


Introduction

Of course, atrocity propaganda is nothing newak Accompanied every
conflict of the 20th century and doubtless will toboe to do so. During
the First World War, the Germans were actually aeduof eating
Belgian babies, as well as delighting to throw tharthe air and transfix
them on bayonets. The British also alleged thatGkeeman forces were
operating a "Corpse Factory," in which they boitkmivn the bodies of
their own dead in order to obtain glycerine andeotbommodities, a
calculated insult to the honour of an Imperial armifter the war,
however, came the retractions; indeed, a publiestant was made by
the Foreign Secretary in the House of Commons gty for the
insults to German honour, which were admitted to War-time
propaganda.

No such statements have been made after the S¥¢oridd War. In fact,
rather than diminish with the passage of years,athecity propaganda
concerning the German occupation, and in partictidair treatment of
the Jews, has done nothing but increase its viceleand elaborate its
catalogue of horrors. Gruesome paperback books imitid covers
continue to roll from the presses, adding contirslypuo a growing
mythology of the concentration camps and especiallyhe story that no
less than Six Million Jews were exterminated imih&he ensuing pages
will reveal this claim to be the most colossal pief fiction and the most
successful of deceptions; but here an attempt reaydde to answer an
important question: What has rendered the atratdyies of the Second
World War so uniquely different from those of thiesP? Why were the
latter retracted while the former are reiterateddkr than ever? Is it
possible that the story of the Six Million Jewsserving a political
purpose, even that it is a form of political blacki®

So far as the Jewish people themselves are conidiredeception has
been an incalculable benefit. Every conceivable @ud nationality had
its share of suffering in the Second World War, lmane has so
successfully elaborated it and turned it to suckagradvantage. The
alleged extent of their persecution quickly arousgdipathy for the
Jewish national homeland they had sought for sg;lafter the War the
British Government did little to prevent Jewish gration to Palestine
which they had declared illegal, and it was nofgl@fterwards that the
Zionists wrested ftom the Government the land déftme and created
their haven from persecution, the State of Isrdetleed, it is a
remarkable fact that the Jewish people emerged thenSecond World



War as nothing less than a triumphant minority. ax Nussbaum, the
former chief rabbi of the Jewish community in Berlstated on April 11,
1953: "The position the Jewish people occupy tooayhe world --

despite the enormous losses -- is ten times strothge what it was
twenty years ago." It should be added, if one ib¢ohonest, that this
strength has been much consolidated financially thg supposed
massacre of the Six Million, undoubtedly the mostfimble atrocity

allegation of all time. To date, the staggeringufey of six thousand
million pounds has been paid out in compensationtly Federal
Government of West Germany, mostly to the Statésiael (which did

not even exist during the Second World War), ad aglto individual

Jewish claimants.

DISCOURAGEMENT OF NATIONALISM

In terms of political blackmail, however, the akign that Six Million
Jews died during the Second World War has much rfareeaching
implications for the people of Britain and Europeart simply the
advantages it has gained for the Jewish nation.h&md one comes to the
crux of the question: Why the Big Lie? What is ptsrpose? In the first
place, it has been used quite unscrupulously tcodiage any form of
nationalism. Should the people of Britain or angestEuropean country
attempt to assert their patriotism and preserve tieional integrity in
an age when the very existence of nation-statésréatened, they are
immediately branded as "neo-Nazis". Because, ofsspuNazism was
nationalism, and we all know what happened the8ix- Million Jews
were exterminated! So long as the myth is perpetlafpeoples
everywhere will remain in bondage to it; the need international
tolerance and understanding will be hammered hogdahbk United
Nations until nationhood itself, the very guarantek freedom, is
abolished.

A classic example of the use of the 'Six Milliors an anti-national
weapon appears in Manvell and Frankl's book, Tleerhparable Crime
(London, 1967), which deals with 'Genocide in theemtieth Century.'
Anyone with a pride in being British will be someatlsurprised by the
vicious attack made on the British Empire in thi®k. The authors quote
Pandit Nehru, who wrote the following while in ait&h prison in India:
"Since Hitler emerged from obscurity and became ®iérer of
Germany, we have heard a great deal about racialghthe Nazi theory
of the 'Herrenvolk' ... But we in India have knowacialism in all its



forms ever since the commencement of British rlikee whole ideology
of this rule was that of the 'Herrenvolk' and thaster race ... India as a
nation and Indians as individuals were subjectednsoilt, humiliation
and contemptuous treatment. The English were apnalpgace, we were
told, with the God-given right to govern us andkes in subjection; if
we protested we were reminded of the 'tiger geslitof an imperial
race'." The authors Manvell and Frankl then go @mike the point
perfectly clear for us: "The white races of Eurapel America," they
write, "have become used during centuries to reggrthemselves as a
'Herrenvolk." The twentieth century, the centuryAafschwitz, has also
achieved the first stage in the recognition of maltial partnership.”
(ibid., p .14)

THE RACE PROBLEM SUPPRESSED

One could scarcely miss the object of this diatriah its insiduous hint
about "multi-racial partnership." Thus the accumabf the Six Million is
not only used to undermine the principle of natmwmih and national
pride, but it threatens the survival of the Raselit It is wielded over the
heads of the populace, rather as the threat dirkedind damnation was
in the Middle Ages. Many countries of the Anglo-8axworld, notably
Britain and America, are today facing the gravestger in their history,
the danger posed by the alien races in their midstess something is
done in Britain to halt the immigration and assandn of Africans and
Asians into our country, we are faced in the neturg, quite apart from
the bloodshed of racial conflict, with the biologlicalteration and
destruction of the British people as they have teglishere since the
coming of the Saxons. In short, we are threatenéd tive irrecoverable
loss of our European culture and racial heritagg. \Bhat happens if a
man dares to speak of the race problem, of itsogichl and political
iImplications? He is branded as that most heinouscreftures, a
"racialist". And what is racialism:,of course, libe very hallmark of the
Nazi! They (so everyone is told, anyway) murderexl illion Jews
because of racialism, so it must be a very ewiighndeed. When Enoch
Powell drew attention to the dangers posed by cetbunmigration into
Britain in one of his early speeches, a certaimmnent Socialist raised
the spectre of Dachau and Auschwitz to silence@f@asumption.

Thus any rational discussion of the problems ofeRand the effort to
preserve racial integrity is effectively discourdg®&lo one could have
anything but admiration for the way in which thavdehave sought to



preserve their race through so many centuries, caminue to do so
today. In this effort they have frankly been agsidby the story of the Six
.Million, which, almost like a religious myth, hatressed the need for
greater Jewish racial solidarity. Unfortunatelyh@s worked in quite the
opposite way for all other peoples, rendering thenpotent in the
struggle for self-preservation.

The aim in the following pages is quite simply &l the Truth. The

distinguished American historian Harry Elmer Barmese wrote that
"An attempt to make a competent, objective andhtaliinvestigation of

the extermination question ... is surely the mostarious venture that an
historian or demographer could undertake today."attempting this

precarious task, it is hoped to make some contabutnot only to

historical truth, but towards lifting the burden aflie from our own

shoulders, so that we may freely confront the dengdich threaten us
all.

Richard E. Harwood

1. GERMAN POLICY TOWARD THE JEWS PRIOR TO THE WAR

Rightly or wrongly, the Germany of Adolf Hitler csidered the Jews to
be a disloyal and avaricious element within thaomal community, as
well as a force of decadence in Germany's cullifeal This was held to

be particularly unhealthy since, during the Weirpariod, the Jews had
risen to a position of remarkable strength anduarice in the nation,
particularly in law, finance and the mass mediagnethough they
constituted only 5 per cent of the population. Tdct that Karl Marx was
a Jew and that Jews such as Rosa Luxembourg ahdiglaknecht were

disproportionately prominent in the leadership oévalutionary

movements in Germany, also tended to convince theisNof the

powerful internationalist and Communist tendenokthe Jewish people
themselves.

It is no part of the discussion here to argue wdrethe German attitude
to the Jews was right or not, or to judge whetteftagislative measures
against them were just or unjust. Our concernnmgbi with the fact that,
believing of the Jews as they did, the Nazis' smiuto the problem was
to deprive them of their influence within the natiby various legislative
acts, and most important of all, to encounge tkenigration from the
country altogether. By 1939, the great majority @¢rman Jews had



emigrated, all of them with a sizeable proportiéiheir assets. Never at
any time had the Nazi leadership even contemplateolicy of genocide
towards them.

JEWS CALLED EMIGRATION 'EXTERMINATION'

It is very significant, however, that certain Jewssre quick to interpret
these policies of internal discrimination as eglamé to extermination
itself. A 1936 anti-German propaganda book by LEenchtwanger and
others entitled Der Gelbe Fleck: Die Ausrotung 89,000 deutschen
Juden (The Yellow Spot: The Extermination of 500,Berman Jews,
Paris, 1936), presents a typical example. Destsitbaselessness in fact,
the annihilation of the Jews is discussed fromfifs¢ pages -- straight-
forward emigration being regarded as the physieatermination” of
German Jewry. The Nazi concentration camps fottipaliprisoners are
also seen as potential instruments of genocide,saedial reference is
made to the 100 Jews still detained in Dachau B618f whom 60 had
been there since 1933. A further example was theas®nal book by the
German-Jewish Communist, Hans Beimler, called RP&aeks in the
Hands of Hitler's Hell-Hounds: The Nazi Murder Caafachau, which
was published in New York as eady as 1933. Detafoedhis Marxist
affiliations, he claimed that Dachau was a deathpgzahough by his own
admission he was released after only a month tAdre.present regime
in East Germany now issues a Hans Beimler Awardsfwices to
Communism.

The fact that anti-Nazi genocide propaganda wasgbdisseminated at
this impossibly early date, therefore, by peoplased on racial or
political grounds, should suggest extreme cautmrihe independent-
minded observer when approaching similar storigh@fvar period.

The encouragement of Jewish emigration should eaoinfused with the
purpose of concentration camps in pre-war Germdhgse were used
for the detention of political opponents and subi@s -- principally

liberals, Social Democrats and Communists of afldgj of whom a
proportion were Jews such as Hans Beimler. Unhkenillions enslaved
in the Soviet Union, the German concentration cgopulation was

always small; Reitinger admits that between 193d 4838 it seldom
exceeded 20,000 throughout the whole of Germany,the number of
Jews was never more than 3,000. (The SS: Alibi dfation, London,

1956, p. 253).



ZIONIST POLICY STUDIED

The Nazi view of Jewish emigration was not limiteda negative policy
of simple expulsion, but was formulated along theed of modern
Zionism. The founder of political Zionism in thethScentury, Theodore
Herzl, in his work The Jewish State, had originatlgnceived of
Madagascar as a national homeland for the Jewshagossibility was
seriously studied by the Nazis. It had been a m&nk of the National
Socialist party platform before 1933 and was puieits by the party in
pamphlet form. This stated that the revival of éét@s a Jewish state was
much less acceptable since it would result in gegdevar and disruption
in the Arab world, which has indeed been the cabke. Germans were
not original in proposing Jewish emigration to Mgascar; the Polish
Government had already considered the scheme pecesf their own
Jewish population, and in 1937 they sent the Michapecki expedition
to Madagascar, accompanied by Jewish represergatovenvestigate the
problems involved.

The first Nazi proposals for a Madagascar solutiwere made in

association with the Schacht Plan of 1938. On tiica of Goéring,

Hitler agreed to send the President of the Reiatisb®r. Hjaimar

Schacht, to London for discussions with Jewish esgntatives Lord
Bearsted and Mr. Rublee of New York (cf. ReitlingEne Final Solution,

London, 1953, p. 20). The plan was that Germansleassets would be
frozen as security for an international loan tafioe Jewish emigration
to Palestine, and Schacht reported on these n&gnfiato Hitler at

Berchtesgaden on January 2, 1939. The plan, whitddfdue to British

refusal to accept the financial terms, was firdt fpaward on November
12, 1938 at a conference convened by Goring, wheated that Hitler

was already considering the emigration of Jews tgetilement in

Madagascar (ibid., p. 21). Later, in December, Rititbp was told by M.
Georges Bonnet, the French Foreign Secretary, that French

Government itself was planning the evacuation of0Q0 Jews to
Madagascar.

Prior to the Schacht Palestine proposals of 1988 wwere essentially a
protraction of discussions that had begun as easly1935, numerous
attempts had been made to secure Jewish emigitatiother European
nations, and these efforts culminated in the Ewtamference of July,
1938. However, by 1939 the scheme of Jewish ennogréd Madagascar



had gained the most favour in German circles. ttug that in London
Helmuth Wohltat of the German Foreign Office dismglimited Jewish
emigration to Rhodesia and British Guiana as latépril 1939; but by
January 24th, when Gadring wrote to Interior Miniskegick ordering the
creation of a Central Emigration Office for Jewsdacommissioned
Heydrich of the Reich Security Head Office to sallre Jewish problem
"by means of emigration and evacuation”, the Madeg@a Plan was
being studied in earnest.

By 1939, the consistent efforts of the German Gowvent to secure the
departure of Jews from the Reich had resulted @ @migration of

400,000 German Jews from a total population of aB0®,000, and an
additional 480,000 emigrants from Austria and Cpstdvakia, which

constituted almost their entire Jewish populatidiss was accomplished
through Offices of Jewish Emigration in Berlin, Yiiea and Prague
established by Adolf Eichmann, the head of the Sewnvestigation

Office of the Gestapo. So eager were the Germanseture this

emigration that Eichmann even established a trgicentre in Austria,

where young Jews could learn farming in anticipatd being smuggled
illegally to Palestine (Manvell and Frankl, SS &adstapo, p. 60). Had
Hitler cherished any intention of exterminating thkews, it is

inconceivable that he would have allowed more tB86,000 to leave
Reich territory with the bulk of their wealth, mutdss considered plans
for their mass emigration to Palestine or Madagastat is more, we

shall see that the policy of emigration from Europas still under

consideration well into the war period, notably thkdagascar Plan,
which Eichmann discussed in 1940 with French Calo6Giffice experts

after the defeat of France had made the surreridke @olony a practical

proposition.

2. GERMAN POLICY TOWARD THE JEWS AFTER THE
OUTBREAK OF WAR

With the coming of the war, the situation regardihg Jews altered
drastically. It is not widely known that world Jendeclared itself to be a
belligerent party in the Second World War, andé¢hgas therefore ample
basis under international law for the Germans t®rin the Jewish
population as a hostile force. On September 5, ARB&AM Weizmann,

the principle Zionist leader, had declared war mgfaiGermany on behalf
of the world's Jews, stating that "the Jews stanGieat Britain and will

fight on the side of the democracies ... The Jewigkncy is ready to



enter into immediate arrangements for utilizing ¥&wmanpower,
technical ability, resources etc ..." (Jewish Clulen September 8, 1939).

DETENTION OF ENEMY ALIENS

All Jews had thus been declared agents willingresg@cute a war against
the German Reich, and as a consequence, HimmleHawpdrich were
eventually to begin the policy of internment. Itvi®rth noting that the
United States and Canada had already internechp#ingse aliens and
citizens of Japanese descent in detention campsrebéfie Germans
applied the same security measures against the dwEurope.
Moreover, there had been no such evidence or @g¢carof disloyalty
by these Japanese Americans as had been given mm@w. The
British, too, during the Boer War, interned all themen and children of
the population, and thousands had died as a rg®tilitn no sense could
the British be charged with wanting to extermindéte Boers. The
detention of Jews in the occupied territories ofrdpe served two
essential purposes from the German viewpoint. Tisé Was to prevent
unrest and subversion; Himmler had informed Mussadin October
11th, 1942, that German policy toward the Jews akered during
wartime entirely for reasons of military securityle complained that
thousands of Jews in the occupied regions were ughimgy partisan
warfare, sabotage and espionage, a view confirmedfficial Soviet
information given to Raymond Arthur Davis diat nes$ than 35,000
European Jews were waging partisan war under ifidduigoslavia. As a
result, Jews were to be transported to restrictegsaand detention
camps, both in Germany, and especially after Matéd?2, in the
Government- General of Poland. As the war proceedee policy
developed of using Jewish detainees for labourhe war-effort. The
guestion of labour is fundamental when considethmg alleged plan of
genocide against the Jews, for on grounds of lalyine the latter would
entail the most senseless waste of manpower, timoeemergy while
prosecuting a war of survival on two fronts. Cetaiafter the attack on
Russia, the idea of compulsory labour had takeogaience over German
plans for Jewisb emigation. The protocol of a cosaton between
Hitler and the Hungarian regent Horthy on April1,71943, reveals that
the German leader personally requested Horthy tease 100,000
Hungarian Jews for work in the "pursuit-plane pesgme" of the
Luftwaffe at a time when the aerial bombardmentGdrmany was
increasing (Reitlinger, Die Endlésung, Berlin, 19%6 478). This took
place at a time when, supposedly, the Germans alszady seeking to
exterminate the Jews, but Hitler's request clealmonstrates the



priority aim of expanding his labour force. In hamy with this
programme, concentration camps became, in factistndl complexes.
At every camp where Jews and other nationalitiesevaetained, there
were.large industrial plants and factories suppjymaterial for the
German war-effort - the Buna rubber factory at Ber@elsen, for
example, Buna and I. G. Farben Industrie at Ausizhand the electrical
firm of Siemens at Ravensbruck. In many cases,i@peoncentration
camp money notes were issued as payment for laboahling prisoners
to buy extra rations from camp shops. The Germasre wWetermined to
obtain the maximum economic return from the conedioh camp
system, an object wholly at variance with any planexterminate
millions of people in them. It was the functiontbé S.S. Economy and
Administration Office, headed by Oswald Pohl, toe séhat the
concentration camps became major industrial praguce

EMIGRATION STILL FAVOURED

It is a remarkable fact, however, that well intee tiwvar period, the
Germans continued to implement the policy of Jewasfigration. The
fall of France in 1940 enabled the German Goverrirt@iopen serious
negotiations with the French for the transfer ofrdpean Jews to
Madagascar. A memorandum of August, 1942 from LytBecretary-of-
State in the German Foreign Office, reveals thahdu conducted these
negotiations between July and December 1940, whezy twere
terminated by the French. A circular from Luthedspartment dated
August 15th, 1940 shows that the details of then@er plan had been
worked out by Eichmann, for it is signed by hisistesit, Dannecker.
Eichmann had in fact been commissioned in Augudtaw up a detailed
Madagascar Plan, and Dannecker was employed inarofseon
Madagascar at the French Colonial Office (Reitimg&he Final
,Solution, p. 77). The proposals of August 15th evénat an inter-
European bank was to finance the emigration of foultion Jews
throughout a phased programme. Luther's 1942 memona shows that
Heydrich had obtained Himmler's approval of thiarpbefore the end of
August and had also submitted it to Gdring. It @efy met with Hitler's
approval, for as early as June 17th his interpr&ehnmidt, recalls Hitler
observing to Mussolini that "One could found a &taf Israel in
Madagascar" (Schmidt, Hitler's Interpreter, Lond851, p.178).
Although the French terminated the Madagascar ra&gnts in
December, 1940, Poliakov, the director of the Gentf Jewish
Documentation in Paris, admits that the Germansniesless pursued
the scheme, and that Eichmann was still busy withroughout 1941.
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Eventually, however, it was rendered impracticaltly progress of the
war, in particular by the situation after the inemsof Russia, and on
February 10th, 1942, the Foreign Office was infatrntieat the plan had
been temporarily shelved. This ruling, sent to faeign Office by
Luther's assistant, Rademacher, is of great impoeta because it
demonstrates conclusively that the term "Final @i meant only the
emigration of Jews, and also that transportatiaiiéoceastern ghettos and
concentration camps such as Auschwitz constitutethimg but an
alternative plan of evacuation. The directive reddfie war with the
Soviet Union has in the meantime created the piiggibf disposing of
other territories for the Final Solution. In congeqce the Fuhrer has
decided that the Jews should be evacuated not tadéascar but to the
East. Madagascar need no longer therefore be @adidn connection
with the Final Solution" (Reitlinger, ibid. p. 79Yhe details of this
evacuation had been discussed a month earlier et Wannsee
Conference in Berlin, which we shall examine beldReitlinger and
Poliakov both make the entirely unfounded suppmsithat because the
Madagascar Plan had been shelved, the Germansnetessarily have
been thinking of "extermination”. Only a month lateowever, on March
7th, 1942, Goebbels wrote a memorandum in favouhefMadagascar
Plan as a "final solution" of the Jewish questibtafvell and Frankl, Dr.
Goebbels, London, 1960, p. 165). In the meantimepm@moved of the
Jews being "concentrated in the East". Later Gdshinemoranda also
stress deportation to the East (i.e. the Govern@emieral of Poland) and
lay emphasis on the need for compulsory labourethance the policy of
evacuation to the East had been inaugurated, theousewish labour
became a fundamental part of the operation. leréepdy clear from the
foregoing that the term "Final Solution” was apgll@th to Madagascar
and to the Eastern territories, and that thereibreneant only the
deportation of the Jews. Even as late as May 181 Germans were
prepared to allow the emigration of one million &ean Jews from
Europe. An account of this proposal is given byxaleder Weissberg, a
prominent Soviet Jewish scientist deported durimg $talin purges, in
his book Die Geschichte von Joel Brand (Cologné&6)l9Weissberg,
who spent the war in Cracow though he expectedsirgnans to intern
him in a concentration camp, explains that on thesgnal authorisation
of Himmler, Eichmann had sent the Budapest Jeweiatdr Joel Brand to
Istanbul with an offer to the Allies to permit thansfer of one million
European Jews in the midst of the war. (If theeexrtnation' writers are
to be believed, there were scarcely one millionsJeft by May, 1944).

The Gestapo admitted that the transportation iredlwould greatly
inconvenience the German war-effort, but were megpdo allow it in
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exchange for 10,000 trucks to be used exclusivalyhe Russian front.
Unfortunately, the plan came to nothing; the Bhitt®ncluded that Brand
must be a dangerous Nazi agent and immediatelyisoryprd him in
Cairo, while the Press denounced the offer as a MN&k. Winston
Churchill, though orating to the effect that theattment of the Hungarian
Jews was probably "the biggest and most horribleecever committed
in the whole history of the world", never- theléaskl Chaim Weizmann
that acceptance of the Brand offer was imposs#gitge it would be a
betrayal of his Russian Allies. Although the plaasafruitless, it well
illustrates that no one allegedly carrying out fthagh" extermination
would permit the emigration of a million Jews, ahdemonstrates, too,
the prime importance placed by the Germans on treafiort.

3. POPULATION AND EMIGRATION

Statistics relating to Jewish populations are nargvhere known in
precise detail, approximations for various coustddfering widely, and
it is also unknown exactly how many Jews were depoand interned at
any one time between the years 1939-1945. In gerfevevever, what
reliable statistics there are, especially thosatire to emigration, are
sufficient to show that not a fraction of six noli Jews could have been
exterminated. In the first place, this claim canrehotely be upheld on
examination of the European Jewish population &gurAccording to
Chambers Encyclopaedia the total number of Jewsgliin pre-war
Europe was 6,500,000. Quite clearly, this would m#aat almost the
entire number were exterminated. But the BaselahNehten, a neutral
Swiss publication employing available Jewish stiati$ data, establishes
that between 1933 and 1945, 1,500,000 Jews enugrateBritain,
Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Australia, China, Indialestine and the
United Sutes. This is confirmed by the Jewish jalish Bruno Blau, who
cites the same figure in the New York Jewish p#adbau, August 13th,
1948. Of these emigrants, approximately 400,000ecénom Germany
before September 1939. This is acknowledged byWeld Jewish
Congress in its publication Unity in Dispersion 77), which states
that: "The majority of the German Jews succeedel@aming Germany
before the war broke out."

In addition to the German Jews, 220,000 of thel 89,000 Austrian
Jews had emigrated by September, 1939, while froarcM 1939
onwards the Institute for Jewish Emigration in Rmeadiad secured the
emigration of 260,000 Jews from former Czechoslaak all, only
360,000 Jews remained in Germany, Austria and Cmbovakia after
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September 1939. From Poland, an estimated 500 &d@migrated prior
to the outbreak of war. These figures mean thatnimaber of Jewish
emigrants from other European countries (FranaeNétherlands, Italy,
the countries of eastern Europe etc.) was apprdgignd20,000. This
exodus of Jews before and during hostilities, tioeee reduces the
number of Jews in Europe to approximately 5,000,000

In addition to these emigrants, we must also irelthee number of Jews
who fled to the Soviet Union after 1939, and whaevkater evacuated
beyond reach of the German invaders. It will bewshdelow that the
majority of these, about 1,250,000, were migrardsfPoland. But apart
from Poland, Reitlinger admits that 300,000 otherdpean Jews slipped
into Soviet territory between 1939 and 1941. Thimds the total of
Jewish emigrants to the Soviet Union to about 18D In Colliers
magazine, June 9th, 1945, Freiling Foster, writhghe Jews in Russia,
explained that "2,200,000 have migrated to the &advnion since 1939
to escape from the Nazis," but our lower estimateprobably more
accurate. Jewish migration to the Soviet Unionydftee, reduces the
number of Jews within the sphere of German occopdbt around 3-1/2
million, approximately 3,450,000. From these shdoéddeducted those
Jews living in neutral European countries who esdape consequences
of the war. According to the 1942 World Almanac $94). the number
of Jews living in Gibraltar, Britain, Portugal, $paSweden, Switzerland,
Ireland and Turkey was 413,128.

3 MILLION JEWS IN EUROPE

A figure, consequently, of around 3 million JewsGerman- occupied
Europe is as accurate as the available emigratatmstecs will allow.
Approximately the same number, however, can be cetiun another
way if we examine statistics for the Jewish popatet remaining in
countries occupied by the Reich. More than halftadse Jews who
migrated to the Soviet Union after 1939 came froolakd. It is
frequently claimed that the war with Poland addaues 3 million Jews to
the German sphere of influence and that almostvtae of this Polish
Jewish population was "exterminated". This is aam&ctual error. The
1931 Jewish population census for Poland put thabeu of Jews at
2,732,600 (Reitlinger, Die Endl6sung, p. 36). Raikr states that at least
1,170,000 of these were in the Russian zone oatupi¢he autumn of
1939, about a million of whom were evacuated to Whels and south
Siberia after the German invasion of June 1944 (ipi 50). As described
above, an estimated 500,000 Jews had emigrateddodamd prior to the
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war. Moreover, the journalist Raymond Arthur Dawi$)o spent the war
in the Soviet Union, observed that approximatel®,260 had already
fled from German-occupied Poland to Russia betvi®39 and 1941 and
were to be encountered in every Soviet provincey§®ely through Hell,

N.Y., 1946). Subtracting these figures from theagon of 2,732,600,

therefore, and allowing for the normal populatioorease, no more than
1,100,000 Polish Jews could have been under Geratarat the end of
1939. (Gutachen des Instituts fur Zeitgeschichtenigh, 1956, p.80). To
this number we may add the 360,000 Jews remainingsermany,

Austria and former Czechoslovakia (Bohemia-Moragiad Slovakia)

after the extensive emigration from those countpesr to the war

described above. Of the 320,000 French Jews, theicPBrosecutor

representing that part of the indictment relating France at the
Nuremberg Trials, stated that 120,000 Jews wereorteh though.

Reitlinger estimates only about 50,000. Thus thal toumber of Jews
under Nazi rule remains below two million. Depadas from the

Scandinavian countries were few, and from Bulgaonae at all. When
the Jewish populations of Holland (140,000), Belgi(40,000), Italy

(50,000), Yugoslavia (55,000), Hungary (380,000)d aRoumania

(725,000) are included, the figure does not mudateea 3 million. This

excess is due to the fact that the latter figunes mae-war estimates
unaffected by emigration, which from these coustdecounted for about
120,000 (see above). This cross-checking, therefomnfirms the

estimate of approximately 3 million European Jewsdar German

occupation.

RUSSIAN JEWS EVACUATED

The precise figures concerning Russian Jews ar@aawrk and have
therefore been the subject of extreme exaggeratiome Jewish
statistician Jacob Leszczynski states that in 19&®%e were 2,100,000
Jews living in future German-occupied Russia, western Russia. In
addition, some 260,000 lived in the Baltic staté€£stonia, Latvia and
Lithuania. According to Louis Levine, Presidenttioé American Jewish
Council for Russian Relief, who made a post-warr tofi the Soviet
Union and submitted a report on the status of lbere, the majority of
these numbers were evacuated east after the Geamars launched
their invasion. In Chicago, on October 30th, 194&,declared that: "At
the outset of the war, Jews were amongst the divatuated from the
western regions threatened by the Hitlerite invagdand shipped to safety
east of the Urals. Two million Jews were thus sadvédis high number
Is confirmed by the Jewish journalist David Bergelswho wrote in the
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Moscow Yiddish paper Ainikeit, December 5th, 19#at "Thanks to the
evacuation, the majority (80%) of the Jews in thedihe, White Russia,
Lithuania and Latvia before the arrival of the Gan®s were rescued.”
Reitlinger agrees with the Jewish authority Jos&ghechtmann, who
admits that huge numbers were evacuated, thouglstimates a slightly
higher number of Russian and Baltic Jews left urigkerman occupation,
between 650,000 and 850,000 (Reitlinger, The Famddition, p. 499). In
respect of these Soviet Jews remaining in Germartory, it will be
proved later that in the war in Russia no more tha@ hundred thousand
persons were killed by the German Action Groupspadisans and
Bolshevik commissars, not all of whom were Jews. dwtrast, the
partisans themselves claimed to have murderedifives that number of
German troops.

'SIX MILLION' UNTRUE ACCORDING TO NEUTRAL SWISS

It is clear, therefore, that the Germans could pmdsibly have gained
control over or exterminated anything like six mifl Jews. Excluding
the Soviet Union, the number of Jews in Nazi-ocedpEurope after
emigration was scarcely more than 3 million, bymeans all of whom
were interned. To approach the extermination ohevaf of six mfilion
would have meant the liquidation of every Jew livin Europe. And yet
it is known that large numbers of Jews were aliv&urope after 1945.
Philip Friedmann in Their Brother's Keepers (N.Y957, p. 13), states
that "at least a million Jews survived in the verucible of the Nazi
hell," while the official figure of the Jewish JoiBistribution Committee
Is 1,559,600. Thus, even if one accepts the lakémate, the number of
possible wartime Jewish deaths could not have ebecka limit of one
and a half million. Precisely this conclusion waaahed by the reputable
journal Baseler Nachrichten of neutral Switzerlaimdan article entitled
"Wie hoch ist die Zahl der judischen Opfer?" ("Hbvgh is the number
of Jewish victims?", June 13th, 1946), it explairtedt purely on the
basis of the population and emigration figures dbeed above, a
maximum of only one and a half million Jews coulel mumbered as
casualties. Later on, however, it will be demonsttaconclusively that
the number was actually far less, for the Basebmhxichten accepted the
Joint Distribution Committee's figure of 1,559,66Qrvivors after the
war, but we shall show that the number of claimsdompensation by
Jewish survivors is more than double that figureisTinformation was
not available to the Swiss in 1946.

IMPOSSIBLE BIRTH RATE
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Indisputable evidence is also provided by the pamst-world Jewish
population statistics. The World Almanac of 1938egi the number of
Jews in the world as 16,588,259. But after the ter New York Times,
February 22nd, 1948 placed the number of Jews enwbrld at a
minimum of 15,600,000 and a maximum of 18,700,@@te obviously,
these figures make it impossible for the numberJeWish war-time
casualties to be measured in anything but thousdakt4/2 million in
1938 minus the alleged six million leaves nine ionlj the New York
Times figures would mean, therefore, that the werltews produced
seven million births, almost doubling their numbhersthe space of ten
years. This is patently ridiculous. It would appeherefore, that the great
majority of the missing "six million" were in faetmigrants -- emigrants
to European countries, to the Soviet Union anduhged States before,
during and after the war. And emigrants also, ist vaunibers to Palestine
during and especially at the end of the war. Aftéd45, boat-loads of
these Jewish survivors entered Palestine illegatlyn Europe, causing
considerable embarrassment to the British Goverhnoénthe time;
indeed, so great were the numbers that the H.MtioB&y Office
publication No. 190 (November 5th, 1946) descrilbleeim as "almost
amounting to a second Exodus." It was these entigtarall parts of the
world who had swollen the world Jewish populationbetween 15 and
18 millions by 1948, and probably the greatest pErtthem were
emigrants to the United States who entered in tralaof the quota laws.
On August 16th, 1963 David Ben Gurion, Presideniscdel, stated that
although the official Jewish population of Ameriggas said to be
5,600,000, "the total number would not be estimated high at
9,000,000" (Deutsche Wochenzeitung, November 23r1@63). The
reason for this high figure is underlined by Albbtaisal in his article
"Our Newest Americans" (Readers Digest, January7).9or he reveals
that "Soon after World War II, by Presidential dexr90 per cent of all
guota visas for central and eastern Europe weuedsto the uprooted.”
Reprinted on this page is just one extract fromdneds that regularly
appear in the obituary columns of Aufbau, the Jewisnerican weekly
published in New York (June 16th, 1972). It shows/Rlewish emigrants
to the United States subsequently changed theiresaitmeir former
names when in Europe appear in brackets. For examaploelow: Arthur
Kingsley (formerly Dr. Kénigsberger of Frankfur€ould it be that some
or all of these people whose names are 'deceassd' included in the
missing six million of Europe?

4. THE SIX MILLION: DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE
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From the foregoing it would seem certain that tigeire of six million
murdered Jews amounts to nothing more than a vagogromise
between several quite baseless estimates; themeotisa shred of
documentary evidence for it that is trustworthy.c@sionally, writers
narrow it down to give a disarming appearance dhenticity. Lord
Russell of Liverpool, for example, in his The Samirof the Swastika
(London, 1954) claimed that "not less than fivelionl" Jews died in
German concentration camps, having satisfied himgelt he was
somewhere between those who estimated 6 million t#wde who
preferred 4 million. But, he admitted, "the realmher will never be
known." If so, it is difficult to know how he coultave asserted "not less
than five million." The Joint Distribution Commitefavours 5,012,000,
but the Jewish "expert" Reitlinger suggests a néigeire of 4,192,200
"missing Jews" of whom an estimated one third adhb&dhatural causes.
This would reduce the number deliberately "exteatad" to 2,796,000.
However, Dr. M. Perlzweig, the New York delegateat®Vorld Jewish
Congress press conference held at Geneva in 18&&istThe price of
the downfall of National Socialism and Fascismhs fact that seven
million Jews lost their lives thanks to cruel AB@mitism." In the Press
and elsewhere, the figure is often casually liftedeight million or
sometimes even nine million. As we have provedhegrevious chapter,
none of these figures are in the remotest degeassitile, indeed, they are
ridiculous.

FANTASTIC EXAGGERATIONS

So far as is known, the first accusation againstGermans of the mass
murder of Jews in war-time Europe was made by tish Jew Rafael
Lemkin in his book Axis Rule in Occupied Europebfshed in New
York in 1943. Somewhat coincidentally, Lemkin watel to draw up the
U.N. Genocide Convention, which seeks to outlaveiglssm". His book
claimed that the Nazis had destroyed millions e¥s]eperhaps as many
as six millions. This, by 1943, would have beenagwmble indeed, since
the action was allegedly started only in the sumofet942. At such a
rate, the entire world Jewish population would hbgen exterminated by
1945. After the war, propaganda estimates spiratidteights even more
fantastic. Kurt Gerstein, an anti-Nazi who claintechave infiltrated the
S.S., told the French interrogator Raymond Cathat he knew that no
less than forty million concentration camp inteshéad been gassed. In
his first signed memorandum of April 26th, 1945 rééuced the figure to
25 million, but even this was too bizarre for Friematelligence and in his
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second memorandum, signed at Rottweil on May 49451 he brought
the figure closer to the six million preferred aetNuremberg Trials.
Gerstein's sister was congenitally insane and bie@uthenasia, which
may well suggest a streak of mental instabilityGarstein himself. He
had, in fact, been convicted in 1936 of sendingeettc mail through the
post. After his two "confessions" he hanged himselfCherche Midi

prison in Paris. Gerstein alleged that during thar we passed on
information concerning the murder of Jews to thee@gh Government
through a German baron but for some inexplicabdsar his report was
“filed away and forgotten". He also claimed that Angust 1942 he
informed the Papal nuncio in Berlin about the whtdxtermination

programme", but the reverend person merely told toirfGet out." The

Gerstein statements abound with claims to haveessiad the most
gigantic mass executions (twelve thousand in aleidgy at Belzec),
while the second memorandum describes a visit byleHito a

concentration camp in Poland on June 6th, 1942wiki&known never to
have taken place. Gerstein's fantastic exaggeshane done little but
discredit the whole notion of mass exterminatiamdeled, Evangelical
Bishop Wilhelm Dibelius of Berlin denounced his nwanda as
"Untrustworthy" (H. Rothfels, "Augenzeugenbericht u z den

Massenvergasungen" in Vierteljahrshefte fur Zeitbehte, April 1953).

It is an incredible fact, however, that in spitetbis denunciation, the
German Government in 1955 issued an edition ofsémond Gerstein
memorandum for distribution in German chools (Dokatation zur

Massenvergasung, Bonn, 1955). In it they statedDitzelius placed his
special confidence in Gerstein and that the mendarawere "valid

beyond any doubt." This is a striking example af thay in which the
baseless charge of genocide by the Nazis is peteetin Germany, and
directed especially to the youth.

The story of six million Jews exterminated durihg tvar was given final
authority at the Nuremberg Trials by the statenoémr. Wilhelm Hoettl.
He had been an assistant of Eichmann's, but wéecima rather strange
person in the service of American Intelligence wWiaal written several
books under the pseudonym of Walter Hagen. Hoéttd aorked for
Soviet espionage, collaborating with two Jewishggamts from Vienna,
Perger and Verber, who acted as U.S. officers dutime preliminary
inquiries of the Nuremberg Trials. It is remarkatiat the testimony of
this highly dubious person Hoettl is said to cdagti the only "proof’
regarding the murder of six million Jews. In hidid#vit of November
26th, 1945 he stated, not that he knew but thdirgamn had "told him"
in August 1944 in Budapest that a total of 6 millidews had been
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exterminated. Needless to say, Eichmann never lmorated this claim at
his trial. Hoettl was working as an American spyiclg the whole of the
latter period of the war, and it is therefore vedd indeed that he never
gave the slightest hint to the Americans of a yolec murder Jews, even
though he worked directly under Heydrich and Eichma

ABSENCE OF EVIDENCE

It should be emphasised straight away that thenetisa single document
In existence which proves that the Germans intertdedr carried out,
the deliberate murder of Jews. In Poliakov and Was Dritte Reich
und die Juden: Dokumente und Aufsatze (Berlin, 198% most that
they can assemble are statements extracted adtevaihfrom people like
Hoettl, Ohlendorf and Wisliceny, the latter undertire in a Soviet
prison. In the absence of any evidence, therefdodiakov is forced to
write: "The three or four people chiefly involved drawing up the plan
for total extermination are dead, and no documsutsgive." This seems
very convenient. Quite obviously, both the plan #imel "three or four"
people are nothing but nebulous assumptions orpdineof the writer,
and are entirely unprovable. The documents whickudwive, of course,
make no mention at all of extermination, so thatess like Poliakov and
Reitlinger again make the convenient assumptioh ¢heh orders were
generally "verbal". Though lacking any documentargof, they assume
that a plan to murder Jews must have originatel®#i, coinciding with
the attack on Russia. Phase one of the plan igealle® have involved the
massacre of Soviet Jews, a claim we shall displates. The rest of the
programme is supposed to have begun in March 194t the
deportation and concentration of European Jewhanetstern camps of
the Polish Government-General, such as the giahtsinial complex at
Auschwitz near Cracow. The fantastic and quite gdbess assumption
throughout is that transportation to the East, suped by Eichmann's
department, actually meant immediate exterminatioovens on arrival.
According to Manvell and Frankl (Heinrich Himmlérondon, 1965), the
policy of genocide "seems to have been arrived aitér "secret
discussions" between Hitler and Himmler (p. 118pugh they fail to
prove it. Reitlinger and Poliakov guess along samifverbal" lines,
adding that no one else was allowed to be predethieae discussions,
and no records were ever kept of them. This isptlmest invention, for
there is not a shred of evidence that even suggesti outlandish
meetings took place. William Shirer, in his genlgralvild and
irresponsible book The Rise and Fall of the ThireicR, is similarly
muted on the subject of documentary proof. He staakly that Hitler's
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supposed order for the murder of Jews "apparerdly mever committed
to paper -- at least no copy of it has yet beerathed. It was probably
given verbally to Gdring, Himmler and Heydrich, wpassed it down . .
,"(p. 1148). A typical example of the kind of "pfoquoted in support of
the extermination legend is given by Manvell anadrikti. They cite a
memorandum of 31st July, 1941 sent by Géring todtek, who headed
the Reich Security Head Office and was Himmlerjsutiz Significantly,
the memorandum begins: "Supplementing the taskvilaat assigned to
you on 24th January 1939, to solve the Jewish prolby means of
emigration and evacuation in the best possible acprding to present
conditions ..." The supplementary task assignetiénmemorandum is a
"total solution (Gesamtlésung) of the Jewish questvithin the area of
German influence in Europe,” which the authors &dmeans
concentration in the East, and it requests prepasatfor the
"organisational, financial and material matters"vaolved. The
memorandum then requests a future plan for theré&edinal solution”
(Endlésung), which clearly refers to the ideal artimate scheme of
emigration and evacuation mentioned at the beggointhe directive.
No mention whatever is made of murdering peopld, Manvell and
Frankl assure us that this is what the memorandumaillly about. Again,
of course, the "true nature" of the final as didtimom the total solution
"was made known to Heydrich by Goéring verbafly"idibp. 118). The
convenience of these "verbal" directives issuingkband forth is
obvious.

THE WANNSEE CONFERENCE

The final details of the plan to exterminate Jeveseasupposed to have
been made at a conference at Gross Wannsee im Berl20th January,
1942, presided over by Heydrich (Poliakov, Das tBrikeich und die
Juden, p. 120 ff; Reitlinger, The Final Solution 9% ff). Officials of all
German Ministries were present, and Miller and BE@hn represented
Gestapo Head Office. Reitlinger and Manvell andnkkaconsider tile
minutes of this conference to be their trump cargdroving the existence
of a genocide plan, but the truth is that no suah vas even mentioned,
and what is more, they freely admit this. Manvelt &rankl explain it
away rather lamely by saying that "The minutesstu®uded in the form
of officialdom that cloaks the real significance tfe words and
terminolgoy that are used" (The Incomparable Cribmdon, 1967, p.
46), which really means that they intend to intetghem in their own
way. What Heydrich actually said was that, as ie themorandum
guoted above, he had been commissioned by Goériagaoge a solution
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to the Jewish problem. He reviewed the history efidh emigration,
stated that the war had rendered the Madagascgcprmmpractical, and
continued: "The emigration programme has been cefdlanow by the
evacuation of Jews to the east as a further pesssolution, in
accordance with the previous authorisation of tlidrér." Here, he
explained, their labour was to be utilised. Allsths supposed to be
deeply sinister, and pregnant with the hidden meathat the Jews were
to be exterminated, though Prof. Paul Rassiniéreachman interned at
Buchenwald who has done sterling work in refuting myth of the Six
Million, explains that it means precisely what iays, i.e. the
concentration of the Jews for labour in the immesesstern ghetto of the
Polish Government-General. "There they were to waiil the end of the
war, for the re-opening of international discussiavhich would decide
their future. This decision was finally reachedtl¢ interministerial
Berlin-Wannsee conference .." (Rassinier, Le Wéit@ Proces
Eichmann, p. 20). Manvell and Frankl, however, nentsdaunted by the
complete lack of reference to extermination. At ¥dannsee conference,
they write, "Direct references to killing were aded, Heydrich favouring
the term "Arbeitseinsatz im Osten" (labour assigmmi@ the East)"
(Heinrich  Himmler, p. 209). Why we should not adcepbour
assignment in the East to mean labour assignmethenEast is not
explained. According to Reitlinger and others, immewable directives
actually specifying extermination then passed betweHimmler,
Heydrich, Eichmann and commandant HGss in the sulese months of
1942, but of course, "none have survived".

TWISTED WORDS AND GROUNDLESS ASSUMPTIONS

The complete lack of documentary evidence to supiher existence of
an extermination plan has led to the habit of tefpreting the
documents that do survive. For example, it is hblgt a document
concerning deportation is not about deportatioallabut a cunning way
of talking about extermination. Manvell and Frarskate that "various
terms were wused to camouflage genocide. These dedlu
"Aussiedlung”(desettlement) and "Abbeférderung"moeal)” (ibid, p.
265). Thus, as we have seen already, words ar@mgel assumed to
mean what they say if they prove too inconveni&hts kind of thing is
taken to the most incredible extremes, such ag th&rpretation of
Heydrich's directive for labour assignment in thest Another example
Is a reference to Himmler's order for sending digasr to the East, "that
Is, having them killed" (ibid, p. 251). Reitlingeegually at a loss for
evidence, does exactly the same, declaring thatm frahe

21



"circumlocutionary" words of the Wannsee confereitae obvious that
"the slow murder of an entire race was intendeoiti(ip. 98). A review
of the documentary situation is important, becauseveals the edifice of
guesswork and baseless assumptions upon which xtemenation
legend is built. The Germans had an extraordinamypgnsity for
recording everything on paper in the most careéibil yet among the
thousands of captured documents of the S.D. anthBgesthe records of
the Reich Security Head Office, the files of Himrdeheadquarters and
Hitler's own war directives there is not a singledey for the
extermination of Jews or anyone else. It will berskater that this has, in
fact, been admitted by the World Centre of Conterapgo Jewish
Documentation at Tel-Aviv. Attempts to find "veiledllusions" to
genocide in speeches like that of Himmler's to h&S.
Obergruppenfuhrers at Posen in 1943 are likewisie gnopeless.
Nuremberg statements extracted after the war, i@bigr under duress,
are examined in the following chapter.

5. THE NUREMBERG TRIALS

The story of the Six Million was given judicial &wftity at the
Nuremberg Trials of German leaders between 1945 a6d9,
proceedings which proved to be the most disgrackfgal farce in
history. For a far more detailed study of the imigs of these trials,
which as Field Marshal Montgomery said, made itime to lose a war,
the reader is referred to the works cited belowd particulary to the
outstanding book Advance to Barbarism (Nelson, 1993y the
distinguished English jurist, F. J. P. Veale. Frdm very outset, the
Nuremberg Trials proceeded on the basis of gr@sttal errors. In his
speech of indictment on November 20th, 1945, Mdn8&y Alderman
declared that there had been 9,600,000 Jews limirigerman occupied
Europe. Our earlier study has shown this figurbdavildly inaccurate. It
Is arrived at (a) by completely ignoring all Jewisiigration between
1933 and 1945, and (b) by adding all the Jews a&fsRuw including the
two million or more who were never in German-oceabpterritory. The
same inflated figure, slightly enlarged to 9,800,0&as produced again
at the Eichmann Trial in Israel by Prof. Shalom d@arThe alleged Six
Million victims first appeared as the foundatiorr fine prosecution at
Nuremberg, and after some dalliance with ten mmllar more by the
Press at the time, it eventually gained internafiopopularity and
acceptance. It is very significant, however, tladthough this outlandish
figure was able to win credence in the reckless ogphere of
recrimination in 1945, it had become no longer bdady 1961, at the
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Eichmann Trial. The Jerusalem court studiously @edimentioning the
figure of Six Million, and the charge drawn up by.M&ideon Haussner
simply said "some" millions.

LEGAL PRINCIPLES IGNORED

Should anyone be misled into believing that the®m®ination of the Jews
was "proved" at Nuremberg by "evidence", he shaoldsider the nature
of the Trials themselves, based as they were otahdisregard of sound
legal principles of any kind. The accusers actegrasecutors, judges
and executioners; "guilt" was assumed from the etutéAmong the

judges, of course, were the Russians, whose nuedsectimes included
the massacre of 15,000 Polish officers, a propoiowvhose bodies were
discovered by the Germans at Katyn Forest, nealedisik The Soviet
Prosecutor attempted to blame this slaughter orGérenan defendants).
At Nuremberg, ex post facto legislation was creataaereby men were
tried for "crimes" which were only declared crim&f$er they had been
allegedly committed. Hitherto it had been the muesic legal principle

that a person could only be convicted for infriggia law that was in
force at the time of the infringement. "Nulla Po&iae Lege." The Rules
of Evidence, developed by British jurisprudence rothee centuries in

order to arrive at the truth of a charge with acimcertainty as possible,
were entirely disregarded at Nuremberg. It wasaekxtthat "the Tribunal
should not be bound by technical rules of eviderg could admit "any
evidence which it deemed to have probative valimat'is, would support
a conviction. In practise, this meant the admittant hearsay evidence
and documents, which in a normal judicial trial atevays rejected as
untrustworthy. That such evidence was allowed is pybfound

significance, because it was one of the principathods by which the
extermination legend was fabricated through fraemlul "written

affidavits". Although only 240 witnesses were cdlla the course of the
Trials, no less than 300,000 of these "writtendaifits" were accepted by
the Court as supporting the charges, without thidemce being heard
under oath. Under these circumstances, any Jevapbrite or camp
inmate could make any revengeful allegation thatplesased. Most
incredible of all, perhaps, was the fact that deéelawyers at Nuremberg
were not permitted to cross-examine prosecutionesges. A somewhat
similar situation prevailed at the trial of AdolidBmann, when it was
announced that Eichmann's defence lawyer coulddneetled at any
time "if an intolerable situation should arise,"ialhpresumably meant if
his lawyer started to prove his innocence. The beakground of the
Nuremberg Trials was exposed by the American judgdestice
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Wenersturm, President of one of Tribunals. He waslisgusted by the
proceedings that he resigned his appointment &wdHbome to America,
leaving behind a statement to the Chicago Tribuhehvennumerated
point by point his objections to the Trials (cf Mdrautern, Das Letzte
Wort tGber NUrnberg, p. 56). Points 3 -8 are afad: 3. The members
of the department of the Public Prosecutor, instdadying to formulate
and reach a new guiding legal principle, were moegrly by personal
ambition and revenge. 4. The prosecution did iteost in every way
possible to prevent the defence preparing its casg to make it
iImpossible for it to furnish evidence. 5. The pmge®n, led by General
Taylor, did everything in its power to prevent tn@animous decision of
the Military Court being carried out i.e. to ask $Mangton to furnish and
make available to the court further documentarydence in the
possession of the American Government. 6. Ninety qent of the
Nuremberg Court consisted of biased persons wiiogreon political or
racial grounds, furthered the prosecution's caseTh& prosecution
obviously knew how to fill all the administrativeogts of the Military
Court with "Americans" whose naturalisation cectfies were very new
indeed, and who, whether in the administrative isenor by their
translations etc., created an atmposhere hostileet@ccused persons. 8.
The real aim of the Nuremberg Trials was to shoe @ermans the
crimes of their Fuhrer, and this aim was at theesime the pretext on
which the trials were ordered ... Had | known seremths earlier what
was happening at Nuremberg, | would never have fogre. Concerning
Point 6, that ninety per cent of the Nuremberg €oansisted of people
biased on racial or political grounds, this wasét tonfirmed by others
present. According to Earl Carrol, an American law\sixty per cent of
the staff of the Public Prosecutor's Office wererfn Jews who had left
Germany after the promulgation of Hitler's Race Eatte observed that
not even ten per cent of the Americans employg¢deaNuremberg courts
were actually Americans by birth. The chief of tRablic Prosecutor's
Office, who worked behind General Taylor, was Roldér Kempner, a
German-Jewish emigrant. He was assisted by Mornshan. Mark
Lautern, who observed the Trials, writes in his kbotl'hey have all
arrived: the Solomons, the Schlossbergers and thbinBvitches,
members of the Public Prosecutor's staff ..." (ilpmd68). It is obvious
from these facts that the fundamental legal priecifhat no man can sit
in judgment on his own case, was abandoned altegektoreover, the
majority of witnesses were also Jews. According Pif. Maurice
Bardeche, who was also an observer at the Tria¢s,onhly concern of
these witnesses was not to show their hatred temlppand to try and
give an impression of objectivity (Nuremberg oulkxre Promise, Paris,
1948, p. 149).
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'CONFESSIONS' UNDER TORTURE

Altogether more disturbing, however, were the mdshemployed to
extract statements and "confessions" at Nurembeagjcularly those
from S.S. officers which were used to support tkiereination charge.
The American Senator, Joseph McCarthy, in a staitem®en to the
American Press on May 20th, 1949, drew attentictméofollowing cases
of torture to secure such confessions. In the predfathe Swabisch Hall,
he stated, officers of the S.S. Leibstandarte Adtbtfer were flogged
until they were soaked in blood, after which thesxual organs were
trampled on as they lay prostrate on the ground.inAthe notorious
Malmedy Trials of private soldiers, the prisonemrahoisted in the air
and beaten until they signed the confessions deeshotithem. On the
basis of such "confessions" extorted from S.S. @dseSepp Dietrich
and Joachim Paiper, the Leibstandarte was convieteda "guilty
organisation". S.S. General Oswald Pohl, the ecom@aministrator of
the concentration camp system, had his face smeatedaeces and was
subsequently beaten until he supplied his confasdio dealing with
these cases, Senator McCarthy told the Pressyvd heard evidence and
read documentary proofs to the effect that the setupersons were
beaten up, maltreated and physically tortured byhods which could
only be conceived in sick brains. They were suld¢b mock trials and
pretended executions, they were told their famivesild be deprived of
their ration cards. All these things were carried with the approval of
the Public Prosecutor in order to secure the pdggimal atmosphere
necessary for the extortion of the required combess If the United
States lets such acts committed by a few peoplengonished, then the
whole world can rightly criticise us severely anorefver doubt the
correctness of our motives and our moral intedritfhe methods of
intimidation described were repeated during tratl$-rankfurt-am-Mein
and at Dachau, and large numbers of Germans wengicted for
atrocities on the basis of their admissions. TheeAcan Judge Edward
L. van Roden, one of the three members of the SImpArmy
Commission which was subsequently appointed to sinyate the
methods of justice at the Dachau trials, reveahsdnethods by which
these admissions were secured in the Washingtoly Daws, January
9th, 1949. His account also appeared in the Britighwspaper, the
Sunday Pictorial, January 23rd, 1949. The methadsldscribed were:
"Posturing as priests to hear confessions andapselution; torture with
burning matches driven under the prisoners finggisnknocking out of
teeth and breaking jaws; solitary confinement arghrnstarvation

25



rations." Van Roden explained: "The statements lwinere admitted as
evidence were obtained from men who had first blespt in solitary
confinement for three, four and five months ... Timeestigators would
put a black hood over the accused's head and thechphim in the face
with brass knuckles, kick him and beat him withbebhoses ... All but
two of the Germans, in the 139 cases we investigated been kicked in
the testicles beyond repair. This was standardatipgr procedure with
our American investigators." The "American” invgstiors responsible
(and who later functioned as the prosecution inttiads) were: Lt.-Col.
Burton F. Ellis (chief of the War Crimes Committes)d his assistants,
Capt. Raphael Shumacker, Lt. Robert E. Byrne, Litliath R. Perl, Mr.
Morris Ellowitz, Mr. Harry Thon, and Mr. Kirschbaunfihe legal adviser
of the court was Col. A. H. Rosenfeld. The readdt iwmmediately
appreciate from their names that the majority césth people were
"biased on racial grounds" in the words of Justéenersturm -- that is,
were Jewish, and therefore should never have me@ived in any such
investigation. Despite the fact that "confessionE'rtaining to the
extemination of the Jews were extracted under theseditions,
Nuremberg statements are still regarded as cownelustidence for the
Six Million by writers like Reitlinger and othergnd the illusion is
maintained that the Trials were both impartial angeccably fair. When
General Taylor, the Chief Public Prosecutor, wasedswhere he had
obtained the figure of the Six Million, he replidtht it was based on the
confession of S.S. General Otto Ohlendorf. He, vems tortured and his
case is examined below. But as far as such "caofessin general are
concerned, we can do no better than quote thesBriunday Pictorial
when reviewing the report of Judge van Roden: ‘t§franen were
reduced to broken wrecks ready to mumble any admnistemanded by
their prosecutors."

THE WISLICENY STATEMENT

At this point, let us turn to some of the Nurembeaigcuments
themselves. The document quoted most frequentlguipport of the
legend of the Six Million, and which figures largeih Poliakov and
Wulf's Das Dritte Reich und die Juden: Dokumentd Aafsatze, is the
statement of S.S. Captain Dieter Wisliceny, an stasi in Adolf
Eichmann's office and later the Gestapo chief av&f{ia. It was obtained
under conditions even more extreme than those ibdesciabove, for
Wisliceny fell into the hands of Czech Communistad awas
“Iinterrogated” at the Soviet-controlled BratislaRason in November,
1946. Subjected to torture, Wisliceny was reduae thervous wreck
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and became addicted to uncontrollable fits of swdpldor hours on end
prior to his execution. Although the conditions andhich his statement
was obtained empty it entirely of all plausibiliti?oliakov prefers to
ignore this and merely writes: "In prison he wregveral memoirs that
contain information of great interest" (Harvest ldate, p. 3). These
memoirs include some genuine statements of fagtdeide authenticity,

such as that Himmler was an enthusiastic advodalewish emigration
and that the emigration of Jews from Europe coetinthroughout the
war, but in general they are typical of the Comrstistyle "confession”
produced at Soviet show-trials. Frequent referense made to

exterminating Jews and a flagrant attempt is madenplicate as many
S.S. leaders as possible. Factual errors are alisomon, notably the
statement that the war with Poland added more 3hairilion Jews to the
German-occupied territory, which we have disproabdve.

THE CASE OF THE EINSATZGRUPPEN

The Wisliceny statement deals at some length wighdctivities of the
Einsatzgruppen or Action Groups used in the Russ@anpaign. These
must merit a detailed consideration in a survewfemberg because the
picture presented of them at the Trials represarisid of "Six Million"

in miniature, i.e. has been proved since to be riwst enormous
exaggeration and falsification. The Einsatzgruppesre four special
units drawn from the Gestapo and the S.D. (S.Qur@gService) whose
task was to wipe out partisans and Communist cosarssn the wake of
the advancing German armies in Russia. As earh9a8, there had been
34,000 of these political commissars attached o Red Army. The
activities of the Einsatzgruppen were the particatancern of the Soviet
Prosecutor Rudenko at the Nuremberg Trials. Th& 1®dictment of the
four groups alleged that in the course of theirrapens they had killed
not less than one million Jews in Russia merelyabse they were Jews.
These allegations have since been elaboratednibwsclaimed that the
murder of Soviet Jews by the Einsatzgruppen cansttPhase One in
the plan to exterminate the Jews, Phase Two bémdransportation of
European Jews to Poland. Reitlinger admits thawtiginal term "final
solution" referred to emigration and had nothing do with the
liquidation of Jews, but he then claims that areerination policy began
at the time of the invasion of Russia in 1941. idasiders Hitler's order
of July 1941 for the liquidation of the Communistnamissars, and he
concludes that this was accompanied by a verbairdrdm Hitler for the
Einsatzgruppen to liquidate all Soviet Jews (DiellBsung, p. 91). If this
assumption is based on anything at all, it is pobbahe worthless
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Wisliceny statement, which alleges that the Eirggaijzpen were soon
receiving orders to extend their task of crushingm@wunists and
partisans to a "general massacre" of Russian Jevwgsvery significant

that, once again, it is a "verbal order" for extating Jews that is
supposed to have accompanied Hitler's genuinetewribrder -- yet
another nebulous and unprovable assumption on dhteop Reitlinger.

An earlier order from Hitler, dated March 1941 asigned by Field
Marshal Keitel, makes it quite clear what the reslks of the future
Einsatzgruppen would be. It states that in the Raossampaign, the
Reichsfiiher S.S. (Himmler) is to be entrusted \tifisks for the political
administration, tasks which result from the strieggthich has to be
carried out between two opposing political syste(@wdnvell and Frankl,
ibid., p. 115). This plainly refers to eliminatifgommunism, especially
the political commissars whose specific task wasm@anist

indoctrination.

THE OHLENDORF TRIAL

The most revealing trial in the "EinsatzgruppeneCag Nuremberg was
that of S.S. General Otto Ohlendorf, the chief ok tS.D. who
commanded Einsatzgruppe D in the Ukraine, attatbdeield Marshal
von Manstein's Eleventh Army. During the last phatéhe war he was
employed as a foreign trade expert in the Minisbtfy Economics.
Ohlendorf was one of those subjected to the todeseribed earlier, and
in his affidavit of November 5th, 1945 he was "paded" to confess that
90,000 Jews had been killed under his command a@@hiendorf did not
come to trial until 1948, long after the main Nulerg Trial, and by that
time he was insisting that his earlier statemermt b@en extracted from
him under torture. In his main speech before thieufal, Ohlendorf took
the opportunity to denounce Philip Auerbach, theide attorney-general
of the Bavarian State Office for Restitution, who that time was
claiming compensation for "eleven million Jews" whad suffered in
German concentration camps. Ohlendorf dismissedritliculous claim,
stating that "not the minutest part" of the pedplewhom Auerbach was
demanding compensation had even seen a concentcatop. Ohlendorf
lived long enough to see Auerbach convicted forezmlement and fraud
(forging documents purporting to show huge paymentsompensation
to non-existent people) before his own executiorally took place in
1951. Ohlendorf explained to the Tribunal that aists often had to
prevent massacres of Jews organised by anti-SeWitiainians behind
the German front, and he denied that the Einsgbpgm as a whole had
inflicted even one quarter of the casualties cladiimg the prosecution. He
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insisted that the illegal partisan warfare in Rasswhich he had to
combat, had taken a far higher toll of lives frdra tegular German army
- an assertion confirmed by the Soviet Governmesich boasted of
500,000 German troops killed by partisans. In f&egnz Stahlecker,
commander of Einsatzgruppe A in the Baltic regiowl &Vhite Russia,
was himself killed by partisans in 1942. The Enyligrist F. J. P. Veale,
in dealing with the Action Groups, explains thattire fighting on the
Russian front no distinction could be properly dnalbetween partisans
and the civilian population, because any Russiaifiasat who maintained
his civilian status instead of acting as a tertaxias liable to be executed
by his countrymen as a traitor. Veale says of thoh Groups: "There is
no question that their orders were to combat tdayaerror”, and he finds
it strange that atrocities committed by the pamsan the struggle were
regarded as blameless simply because they turnedoobe on the
winning side (ibid. p. 223). Ohlendorf took the sawmew, and in a bitter
appeal written before his execution, he accusedles of hypocrisy in
holding the Germans to account by conventional laftvevarfare while
fighting a savage Soviet enemy who did not resfhexge laws.

ACTION GROUP EXECUTIONS DISTORTED

The Soviet charge that the Action Groups had wayterterminated a
million Jews during their operations has been shewrsequently to be a
massive falsification. In fact, there had neverrbee slightest statistical
basis for the figure. In this connection, Poliakand Wulf cite the
statement of Wilhelm Hoettl, the dubious Americgy,sdouble agent
and former assistant of Eichmann. Hoettl, it wél lemembered, claimed
that Eichmann had "told him " that six million Jewsad been
exterminated -- and he added that two million @sthhad been killed by
the Einsatzgruppen. This absurd figure went beyewen the wildest
estimates of Soviet Prosecutor Rudenko, and it waisgiven any
credence by the American Tribunal which tried anondemned
Ohlendorf. The real number of casualties for whtich Action Groups
were responsible has since been revealed in tlasiyhwork Manstein,
his Campaigns and his Trial (London, 1951), bydbk English lawyer
R. T. Paget. Ohlendorf had been under Mansteirnsimad command.
Paget's conclusion is that the Nuremberg Couracitepting the figures
of the Soviet prosecution, exaggerated the numbeasualties by more
than 1000 per cent and that they distorted everertlog situations in
which these casualties were infiicted. (These hordistortions are the
subject of six pages of William Shirer's The Risel &all of the Third
Reich, pp. 1140-46). Here, then, is the legendamyilion in miniature;
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not one million deaths, but one hundred thousaf@¢oOrse, only a small
proportion of these could have been Jewish padisard Communist
functionaries. It is worth repeating that theseue#tees were inflicted
during savage partisan warfare on the Eastern,framtl that Soviet
terrorists claim to have killed five times that rioen of German troops. It
has nevertheless remained a popular myth thatXtegneination of the
Jews began with the actions of the EinsatzgruppenRussia. In
conclusion, we may briefly survey the Mansteinltiiself, typical in so
many ways of Nuremberg proceedings. Principallyabse Action Group
D was attached to Manstein's command (though itresggonsible solely
to Himmler), the sixty-two year old, invalid FieMarshal, considered by
most authorities to be the most brilliant Germanegal of the war, was
subjected to the shameful indignity of a "war-cr&tharial. Of the 17
charges, 15 were brought by the Communist Russive@ment and
two by the Communist Polish Government. Only onmess was called
to give evidence at this trial, and he proved seatisfactory that the
prosecution withdrew his evidence. Reliance wasqaanstead on 800
hearsay documents which were accepted by the watlmbut any proof
of their authenticity or authorship. The proseautiotroduced written
affidavits by Ohlendorf and other S.S. Leaders,dite these men were
still alive, Manstein's defence.lawyer Reginald &a$.C. demanded
their appearance in the witness-box. This was eefus/ the American
authorities, and Paget declared that this refusa due to fear lest the
condemned men revealed what methods had beenagstlite them to
sign their affidavits. Manstein was eventually atied on eight of the
charges, including the two Polish ones which, agePaaid, "were so
flagrantly bogus that one was left wondering whyeythhad been
presented at all."

THE OSWALD POHL TRIAL

The case of the Action Groups is a revealing irtsigto the methods of
the Nuremberg Trials and the fabrication of the Mgt the Six Million.

Another is the trial of Oswald Pohl in 1948, whishof great importance
as it bears directly on the administration of thenaentration camp
system. Pohl had been the chief disbursing offcdethe German Navy
until 1934, when Himmler requested his transfethi® S.S. For eleven
years he was the principal administrative chietha entire S.S. in his
position as head of the S.S. Economy and AdministreOffice, which

after 1941 was concerned with the industrial prdgdig of the

concentration camp system. A peak point of hypgasias reached at the
trial when. the prosecution said to Pohl that "smany rested content
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with the exclusion of Jews from her own territowith denying them

German citizenship, with excluding them from pulditice, or any like

domestic regulation, no other nation could havenldjesard to complain.”
The truth is that Germany was bombarded with issaltd economic
sanctions for doing precisely these things, and ihtarnal measures
against the Jews were certainly a major causeefldclaration of war
against Germany by the democracies. Oswald Pohl amasxtremely

sensitive and intellectual individual who was reetlito a broken man in
the course of his trial. As Senator McCarthy pamet, Pohl had signed
some incriminating statements after being subjettedevere torture,
including a bogus admission that he had seen algasber at Auschwitz
in the summer of 1944. The prosecution strenuopidgsed this charge,
but Pohl successfully repudiated it. The aim of pmesecution was to
depict this dejected man as a veritable fiend imdmu shape, an
iImpression hopelessly at variance with the testynainthose who knew
him . Such testimony was given by Heinrich Hoepkar, anti- Nazi

friend of Pohl's wife who came into frequent cohtath him during the

period 1942-45. Hoepker noted that Pohl was esdgna serene and
mild-mannered person. During a visit to Pohl in #m@ing of 1944,

Hoepker was brought into contact with concentraiamp inmates who
were working on a local project outside the cangaaHe noted that the
prisoners worked in a leisurely manner and relaatedosphere without
any pressure from their guards. Hoepker declaratiRbhl did not hold

an emotional attitude to the Jews, and did not adbje his wife

entertaining her Jewish friend Annemarie Jacqudbeat home. By the
beginning of 1945, Hoepker was fully convinced it administrator of
the concentration camps was a humane, conscientiodsdedicated
servant of his task, and he was astonished whémeh later in 1945 of
the accusations being made against Pohl and hHisagoles. Frau Pohl
noted that her husband retained his serenity irfabe of adversity until

March 1945, when he visited the camp at Bergensddeht the time of
the typhus epidemic there. Hitherto the camp haenba model of

cleanliness and order, but the chaotic conditidnie close of the war
had reduced it to a state of extreme hardship.,Ramd was unable to
alleviate conditions there because of the desppese which the war had
reached by that time, was deeply affected by thpemsnce and,

according to his wife, never regained his formatesbf composure. Dr.
Alfred Seidl, the highly respected lawyer who acéesdprincipal defence
counsel at the Nuremberg Trials, went to work passgiely to secure the
acquittal of Pohl. Seidl had been a personal friehdhe accused for
many years, and was thoroughly convinced of hisgence with respect
to the fraudulent charge of planned genocide agtiesiews. The Allied
judgment which condemned Pohl did not prompt Sedchange his
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opinion in the slightest. He declared that the @cosion had failed to
produce a single piece of valid evidence against. lne of the most
eloquent defences of Oswald Pohl was made by $e8tdnant Colonel
Kurt Schmidt-Klevenow, a legal officer in the S.&conomy and
Administration Office, in his affidavit of Augustl® 1947. This affidavit
has been deliberately omitted from the publishedudeents known as
Trials of the War Criminals before the Nuremberglitsliy Tribunals
1946 -1949. Schmidt-Klevenow pointed out that Pbhb given his
fullest support to Judge Konrad Morgen of the Reiiminal Police
Office, whose job was to investigate irregularitegsthe concentration
camps. Later on we shall refer to a case in whighl ®as in favour of
the death penalty for camp commandant Koch, who aeasised by an
S.S. court of misconduct. Schmidt- Klevenow exmdirthat Pohl was
instrumental in arranging for local police chiefe share in the
jurisdiction of concentration camps, and took peasoinitiative in
securing strict discipline on the part of camp perel. In short, the
evidence given at the Pohl trial shows that thecgedings involved
nothing less than the deliberate defamation of a'sneharacter in order
to support the propaganda legend of genocide agtirsJews in the
concentration camps he administered.

FALSIFIED EVIDENCE AND FRAUDULENT AFFIDAVITS

Spurious testimony at Nuremberg which includedassdgant statements
in support of the myth of the Six Million was invaly given by former
German officers because of pressure, either s¢pdree as in the cases
cited previously, or the assurance of leniency tfemselves if they
supplied the required statements. An example of |#teer was the
testimony of S.S. General Erich von dem Bach-Zekewsle was
threatened with execution himself because of hipassion of the revolt
by Polish partisans at Warsaw in August 1944, wihieltarried out with
his S.S. brigade of White Russians. He was thezgfogpared to be "co-
operative". The evidence of Bach-Zelewski constduthe basis of the
testimony against the Reichsfihrer of the S.S. HeinHimmler at the
main Nuremberg Trial (Trial of the Major War Crinals, Vol. IV, pp,
29, 36). In March 1941, on the eve of the invasibriRussia, Himmler
invited the Higher S.S. Leaders to his Castle atwdfgburg for a
conference, including Bach-Zelewski who was an exjpa partisan
warfare. In his Nuremberg evidence, he depicted rien speaking in
grandiose terms at this conference about the lajod of peoples in
Eastern Europe, but Goéring, in the courtroom, daned Bach-Zelewski
to his face for the falsity of this testimony. Aspecially outrageous
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allegation concerned a supposed declaration by Hemthat one of the
aims of the Russian campaign was to "decimate e Spulation by
thirty millions." What Himmler really said is givany his Chief of Staff,
Wolff -- that war in Russia was certain to resudt millions of dead
(Manvell and Frankl, ibid. p. 117). Another braZeitsehood was Bach-
Zelewski's accusation that on August 31st, 1942 rhlen personally
witnessed the execution of one hundred Jews byirssa& detachment at
Minsk, causing him to nearly faint. It is known virever, that on this date
Himmler was in conference at his field headquargr&hitomir in the
Ukraine (cf K. Vowinckel, Die Wehrmacht im Kampfolv 4, p. 275).
Much is made of Bach-Zelewski's evidence in alllbeks on Himmler,
especially Willi Frischauer's Himmler: Evil Geniad the Third Reich
(London, 1953, p. 148 ff). However, in April 1958ach-Zelewski
publicly repudiated his Nuremberg testimony befareNVest German
court. He admitted that his earlier statements hat the slightest
foundation in fact, and that he had made themlfersake of expediency
and his own survival. The German court, after cdrefeliberation,
accepted his retraction. Needless to say, whateVealls the "Iron
Curtain of Discreet Silence" descended immediabtelgr these events.
They have had no influence whatever on the bookshypropagate the
myth of the Six Million, and Bach-Zelewski's testiny on Himmler is
still taken at its face value. The truth concerntktignmler is provided
ironically by an anti-Nazi -- Felix Kersten, hisysician and masseur.
Because Kersten was opposed to the regime, he tendspport the
legend that the internment of Jews meant theirrext@tion. But from
his close personal knowledge of Himmler he canet but tell the truth
concerning him, and in his Memoirs 1940-1945 (Landi®56, p. 119 ff)
he is emphatic in stating that Heinrich Himmler dmdt advocate
liquidating the Jews but favoured their emigratomerseas. Neither does
Kersten implicate Hitler. However, the credibilityf his anti-Nazi
narrative is completely shattered when, in seafa@nalternative villain,
he declares that Dr. Goebbels was the real advaddEextermination”.
This nonsensical allegation is amply disproved sy flact that Goebbels
was still concerned with the Madagascar projecheager it had been
temporarily shelved by the German Foreign Officewa showed eatrlier.
So much for false evidence at Nuremberg. Referbasealso been made
to the thousands of fraudulent "written affidavitghich were accepted
by the Nuremberg Court without any attempt to asgethe authenticity
of their contents or even their authorship. Thess$ay documents, often
of the most bizarre kind, were introduced as "eva#2 so long as they
bore the required signature. A typical prosecuadfidavit contested by
the defence in the Concentration Camp Trial of 1948 that of Alois
Hoellriegel, a member of the camp personnel at Nmugen in Austria.
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This affidavit, which the defence proved was fafec during
Hoellriegel's torture, had already been used tairgethe conviction of
S.S. General Ernst Kaltenbrunner in 1946. It claiteat a mass gassing
operation had taken place at Mauthausen and thairldgel had
witnessed Kaltenbrunner ( the highest S.S. Lead#ra Reich excepting
Himmler) actually taking part in it. By the time ofie Concentration
Camp Trial (Pohl's trial) a year later, it had b®eoimpossible to sustain
this piece of nonsense when it was produced int@main. The defence
not only demonstrated that the affidavit was fasif but showed that all
deaths at Mauthausen were systematically checkethdoyocal police
authorities. They were also entered on a camp te¥giand particular
embarrassment was caused to the prosecution wherM#guthausen
register, one of the few that survived, was produite evidence. The
defence also obtained numerous affidavits from &rmmmates of
Mauthausen (a prison camp chiefly for criminalsgtifging to humane
and orderly conditions there.

ALLIED ACCUSATIONS DISBELIEVED

There is no more eloquent testimony to the tragadg tyranny of

Nuremberg than the pathetic astonishment or oufratygbelief of the

accused persons themselves at the grotesque clmaagesagainst them.
Such is reflected in the affidavit of S.S. Majorf@eal Heinz Fanslau,
who visited most of the German concentration campsng the last

years of the war. Although a front line soldietttné Waffen S.S., Fanslau
had taken a great interest in concentration canmglitons, and he was
selected as a prime target by the Allies for thargé of conspiracy to
annihilate the Jews. It was argued, on the badmssofany contacts, that
he must have been fully involved. When it was fimstnoured that he
would be tried and convicted, hundreds of affidawitere produced on
his behalf by camp inmates he had visited. Wheread the full scope of
the indictment against the concentration camp p&&o in

supplementary Nuremberg Trial No. 4 on May 6th, 719%&anslau

declared in disbelief: "This cannot be possibledose [, too, would have
had to know something about it." It should be ensigel that throughout
the Nuremberg proceedings, the German leadersiaimaver believed
for a moment the allegations of the Allied prosemutHermann Goring,
who was exposed to the full brunt of the Nuremladrgcity propaganda,
failed to be convinced by it. Hans Fritzsche, oiltas the highest
functionary of Goebbels' Ministry, relates that Bgr even after hearing
the Ohlendorf affidavit on the Einsatzgruppen amal Hoss testimony on
Auschwitz, remained convinced that the extermimatef Jews was
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entirely propaganda fiction (The Sword in the Ssaleondon, 1953, p.
145). At one point during the trial, GOring decthmather cogently that
the first time he had heard of it "was right hareNluremberg" (Shirer,
ibid. p. 1147). The Jewish writers Poliakov, Rager and Manvell and
Frankl all attempt to implicate Goring in this sogpd extermination, but
Charles Bewley in his work Hermann Goring (Goetting1956) shows
that not the slightest evidence was found at Nusrmlio substantiate
this charge. Hans Fritzsche pondered on the wheéstopn during the
trials, and he concluded that there had certairdgnbno thorough
investigation of these monstrous charges. Fritzsel® was acquitted,
was an associate of Goebbels and a skilled propeiahie recognised
that the alleged massacre of the Jews was the mpaim of the
indictment against all defendants. Kaltenbrunnero wsucceeded
Heydrich as chief of the Reich Security Head Offese was the main
defendant for the S.S. due to the death of Himmbeaxs no more
convinced of the genocide charges than was Gottey.confided to
Fritzsche that the prosecution was scoring appawcitesses because of
their technique of coercing witnesses and supprgssvidence, which
was precisely the accusation of Judges Wenerstadwan Roden.

6. AUSCHWITZ AND POLISH JEWRY

The concentration camp at Auschwitz near CracowPwoland has
remained at the centre of the alleged exterminatiomillions of Jews.
Later we shall see how, when it was discovered doyebt observers in
the British and American zones after the war that"gas chambers"
existed in the German camps such as Dachau ande&gjsen,
attention was shifted to the eastern camps, p#atigutAuschwitz. Ovens
definitely existed here, it was claimed. Unfortualgt the eastem camps
were in the Russian zone of occupation, so thabm® could verify
whether these allegations were true or not. Thesigos refused to allow
anyone to see Auschwitz until about ten years dferwar, by which
time they were able to alter its appearance and gome plausibility to
the claim that millions of people had been exteated there. If anyone
doubts that the Russians are capable of such decgphey should
remember the monuments erected at sites where ahdsisof people
were murdered in Russia by Stalin's secret policdut where the
monuments proclaim them to be victims of Germaongsoin World War
Two. The truth about Auschwitz is that it was tlegest and most
important industrial concentration camp, producafigkinds of material
for the war industry. The camp consisted of symthebal and rubber
plants built by I. G. Farben Industrie, for whone thrisoners supplied
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labour. Auschwitz also comprised an agriculturaesech station, with
laboratories, plant nurseries and facilities farcktbreeding, as well as
Krupps armament works. We have already remarket ttha kind of
activity was the prime function of the camps,; albjar firms had
subsidiaries in them and the S.S. even opened thenr factories.
Accounts of visits by Himmler to the camps showt thia main purpose
was to inspect and assess their industrial effogieWhen he visited
Auschwitz in March 1941 accompanied by high exeesti of 1.G.
Farben, he showed no interest in the problems efcdmp as a facility
for prisoners, but merely ordered that the campebkarged to take
100,000 detainees to supply labour for I.G. Farld@ms hardly accords
with a policy of exterminating prisoners by thelmi.

MORE AND MORE MILLIONS

It was nevertheless at this single camp that abalitof the six million
Jews were supposed to have been exterminated,dindeene writers
claim 4 or even 5 million. Four million was the sational figure
announced by the Soviet Government after the Constaurhad
"investigated" the camp, at the same time as theke vattempting to
blame the Katyn massacre on the Germans. Reitlizgknits that
information regarding Auschwitz and other eastemmpgs comes from
the post-war Communist regimes of Eastem Europdte'€vidence
concerning the Polish death camps was mainly taesr the war by
Polish State commissions or by the Central Jewiststokcal
Commission of Poland" (The Final Solution, p . 63Hpwever, no
living, authentic eye-witness of these "gassingss Bver been produced
and validated. Benedikt Kautsky, who spent sevemsya concentration
camps, including three in Auschwitz, alleged in bok Teufel und
Verdammte (Devil and Damned, Zurich, 1946) thatt"iess than
3,500,000 Jews" had been killed there. This wataicdy a remarkable
statement, because by his own admission he hadr remen a gas
chamber. He confessed: "I was in the big Germarceunation camps.
However, | must establish the truth that in no camh@ny time did |
come across such an installation as a gas char(fbe272- 3). The only
execution he actually withessed was when two Paoilmhates were
executed for killing two Jewish inmates. Kautskyhomvas sent from
Buchenwald in October, 1942 to work at AuschwitzaBustresses in his
book that the use of prisoners in war industry \®asiajor feature of
concentration camp policy until the end of the wdée. fails to reconcile
this with an alleged policy of massacring Jews. ERgerminations at
Auschwitz are alleged to have occurred between Mage2 and October
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1944; the figure of half of six million, thereforeyould mean the
extermination and disposal of about 94,000 peoplenponth for thirty
two months - approximately 3,350 people every @iy, and night, for
over two and a half years. This kind of thing is ladicrous that it
scarcely needs refuting. And yet Reitlinger claiquste seriously that
Auschwitz could dispose of no less than 6,000 peepbay. Although
Reitlinger's 6,000 a day would mean a total by Getdl944 of over 5
million, all such estimates pale before the wildtésies of Olga Lengyel
in her book Five Chimneys (London, 1959). Claimiogbe a former
inmate of Auschwitz, she asserts that the camp ateanno less than
"720 per hour, or 17,280 corpses per twenty-four rghift." She also
alleges that, in addition, 8,000 people were bureedry day in the
"death-pits", and that therefore "In round numbaitxut 24,000 corpses
were handled every day" (p. 80-1). This, of couvgauld mean a yearly
rate of over 8-1/2 million. Thus between March 1@4@ October 1944
Auschwitz would finally have disposed of over 21llimn people, six
million more than the entire world Jewish populaticComment is
superfluous. Although several millions, were sugub$o have died at
Auschwitz alone, Reitlinger has to admit that o868,000 inmates were
registered at the camp for the whole of the pebetiveen January 1940
and February 1945 (The S.S. Alibi of a Nation, 8 &f), and by no
means all of them were Jews. It is frequently cidrthat many prisoners
were never registered, but no one has offered angf f this. Even if
there were as many unregistered as there werdergls it would mean
only a total of 750,000 prisoners -- hardly enotmtthe elimination of 3
or 4 million. Moreover, large numbers of the camppuyation were
released or transported elsewhere during the vaaratthe end 80,000
were evacuated westward in January 1945 befordtissian advance.
One example will suffice of the statistical fraud$ating to casualties at
Auschwitz. Shirer claims that in the summer of 1944 less than
300,000 Hungarian Jews were done to death in a feetgsix days
(ibid. p. 1156). This would have been almost thi&rermHungarian Jewish
population, which numbered some 380,000. But acegrtb the Central
Statistical Office of Budapest, there were 260,0é@s in Hungary in
1945 (which roughly conforms with the Joint Distrilon Committee
figure of 220,000), so that only 120,000 were ddsss no longer
resident. Of these, 35,000 were emigrants from rteey Communist
regime, and a further 25,000 were still being helRussia after having
worked in German labour battalions there. This dsawnly 60,000
Hungarian Jews unaccounted for, but M. E. Namemsyimates that
60,000 Jews retumed to Hungary from deportatioG@imany, though
Reitlinger says this figure is too high (The Firablution, p. 497).
Possibly it is, but bearing in mind the substargiaigration of Hungarian
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Jews during the war (cf Report of the ICRC, Volpl,649), the number
of Hungarian Jewish casualties must have beenloeryndeed.

AUSCHWITZ: AN EYE-WITNESS ACCOUNT

Some new facts about Auschwitz are at last beggtarmake a tentative
appearance. They are contained in a recent wol&dcBlie Auschwitz-
Lige: Ein Erlebnisbericht von Theis Christophergdiime Auschwitz
Legends: An Account of his Experiences by Thiesistbpherson, Kritik
Verlag/Mohrkirch, 1973). Published by the Germanyar Dr. Manfred
Roeder in the periodical Deutsche Birger-Iniativds an eye-witness
account of Auschwitz by Thies Christopherson, whasvsent to the
Bunawerk plant laboratories at Auschwitz to reseanto the production
of synthetic rubber for the Kaiser Wilhelm Instéuin May 1973, not
long after the appearance of this account, theraetdewish "Nazi-
hunter" Simon Wiesenthal wrote to the Frankfurt @har of Lawyers,
demanding that the publisher and author of the BaiwDr. Roeder, a
member of the Chamber, should be brought beforedigsiplinary
commission. Sure enough, proceedings began in bulynhot without
harsh criticism even from the Press, who aske&iison Wiesenthal the
new Gauleiter of Germany?" (Deutsche Wochenzeitduly, 27th, 1973).
Christopherson’'s account is certainly one of thestmonportant
documents for a re-appraisal of Auschwitz. He spleatwhole of 1944
there, during which time he visited all of the sgpa@a camps comprising
the large Auschwitz complex, including Auschwitzd&nau where it is
alleged that wholesale massacres of Jews took .plakgstopherson,
however, is in no doubt that this is totally untrite writes: "l was in
Auschwitz from January 1944 until December 1944eAthe war | heard
about the mass murders which were supposedly patpetby the S.S.
against the Jewish prisoners, and | was perfestigneshed. Despite all
the evidence of witnesses, all the newspaper repoid radio broadcasts
| still do not believe today in these horrible deedhave said this many
times and in many places, but to no purpose. Omever believed" (p.
16). Space forbids a detailed summary here of titieoa's experiences at
Auschwitz, which include facts about camp routimel #he daily life of
prisoners totally at variance with the allegatiohpropaganda (pp. 22-7).
More important are his revelations about the suppasxistence of an
extermination camp. "During the whole of my timeAaischwitz, | never
observed the slightest evidence of mass gassingedver, the odour of
burning flesh that is often said to have hung @kiercamp is a downright
falsehood. In the vicinity of the main camp (Ausdaw) was a large
farrier's works, from which the smell of moltennrevas naturally not
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pleasant" (p. 33-4). Reitlinger confirms that thesre five blast furnaces
and five collieries at Auschwitz, which togetherttwithe Bunawerk
factories comprised Auschwitz Il (ibid. p. 452)hd8 author agrees that a
crematorium would certainly have existed at Austhwisince 200,000
people lived there, and in every city with 200,d@@abitants there would
be a crematorium. Naturally people died there t+imt only prisoners. In
fact the wife of Obersturmbannfiihrer A. (Christofgo®'s superior) also
died there" (p. 33). The author explains: "Therereavao secrets at
Auschwitz. In September 1944 a commission of therirational Red
Cross came to the camp for an inspection. They wsdicularly
interested in the camp at Birkenau, though we l#gb many inspections
at Raisko" (Bunawerk section, p. 35). Christopherpoints out that the
constant visits to Auschwitz by outsiders cannot rbeonciled with
allegations of mass extermination. When describimggvisit of his wife
to the camp in May, he observes: "The fact thatai$ possible to receive
visits from our relatives at any time demonstrates openness of the
camp administration. Had Auschwitz been a greagrexhation camp,
we would certainly not have been able to receivehsusits" (p. 27).
After the war, Christopherson came to hear of fleged existence of a
building with gigantic chimneys in the vicinity ¢fie main camp. "This
was supposed to be the crematorium. However, | negstrd the fact that
when | left the camp at Auschwitz in December 1944ad not seen this
building there" (p. 37). Does this mysterious buitgd exist today?
Apparently not; Reitlinger claims it was demolishadd "completely
burnt out in full view of the camp" in October, tigh Christopherson
never saw this public demolition. Although it iScs&o have taken place
“Iin full view of the camp", it was allegedly seey bnly one Jewish
witness, a certain Dr. Bendel, and his is the amstimony to the
occurrence (Reitlinger, ibid, p. 457). This sitoatiis generally typical.
When it comes down to hard evidence, it is strangkisive; the building
was "demolished", the document is "lost", the ordes "verbal'. At
Auschwitz today, visitors are shown a small furnaoel here they are
told that millions of people were exterminated. TBeviet State
Commission which "investigated" the camp announcedMay 12th,
1945, that "Using rectified coefficients . . . thlechnical expert
commission has ascertained that during the timethigaAuschwitz camp
existed, the German butchers exterminated in #imspcnot less than four
million citizens ..." Reitlinger's surprisingly fi& comment on this is
perfectly adequate: "The world has grown mistrdstbhi 'rectified
coefficients' and the figure of four millions hasclome ridiculous" (ibid,
p. 460). Finally, the account of Mr. Christophersbaws attention to a
very curious circumstance. The only defendant widondt appear at the
Frankfurt Auschwitz Trial in 1963 was Richard Ba#lte successor of
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Rudolf Hoss as commandant of Auschwitz. Thougharfget health, he
died suddenly in prison before the trial had beglin, a highly
mysterious way" according to the newspaper; Deetdftochenzeitung
(July 27th, 1973). Baer's sudden demise beforengivevidence is
especially strange, since the Paris newspaper &ivacorded his
insistence that "during the whole time in whichdgmverned Auschwitz,
he never saw any gas chambers nor believed thatthiggs existed,"
and from this statement nothing would dissuade Hhim.short, the
Christopherson account adds to a mounting collecid evidence
demonstrating that the giant industrial complexXAo$chwitz (comprising
thirty separate installations and divided by theinm#elienna-Cracow
railway line) was nothing but a vast war producteamtre, which, while
admittedly employing the compulsory labour of de¢ss, was certainly
not a place of "mass extermination".

THE WARSAW GHETTO

In terms of numbers, Polish Jewry is supposed t@ [saffered most of
all from extermination, not only at Auschwitz, batt an endless list of
newly-discovered "death camps" such as Treblinkabhid®r, Belzec,
Majdanek, Chelmno and at many more obscure pladashwseem
suddenly to have gained prominence. At the cenfrehe alleged
extermination of the Polish Jews is the dramatitsupy in April 1943 of
the Warsaw Ghetto. This is often represented asvaltragainst being
deported to gas ovens; presumably the alleged &ubje Hitler and
Himmler's "secret discussions" had leaked out andegl wide publicity
in Warsaw. The case of the Warsaw Ghetto is amuiciste insight into
the creation of the extermination legend itselflded, its evacuation by
the Germans in 1943 is often referred to as theefmination of the
Polish Jews" although it was nothing of the kina &ayers of mythology
have tended to surround it after the publicatiosefsational novels like
John Hersey's The Wall and Leon Uris' Exodus. WthenGermans first
occupied Poland, they confined the Jews, not ierd&n camps but in
ghettos for reasons of security. The interior adsmation of the ghettos
was in the hands of Jewish Councils elected by slebras, and they were
policed by an independent Jewish police force. Bp@urrency notes
were introduced into the ghettos to prevent spéounla\Whether this
system was right or wrong, it was understandablénne of war, and
although the ghetto is perhaps an unpleasant sestiagblishment, it is by
no means barbaric. And it is certainly not an orggion for the
destruction of a race. But, of course, it is fraglyesaid that this is what
the ghettos were really for. A recent publicationtbe Warsaw Ghetto
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made the brazen assertion that concentration cange a substitute for
the practice of cramming the Jews into overcrowgleettos and starving
them to death." It seems that whatever securitiegyshe Germans used,
and to whatever lengths they went to preserve &legre of community
for the Jews, they can never escape the chargextdrimination”. It has
been established already that the 1931 Jewish @iopul census for
Poland placed the number of Jews at 2,732,600thatchafter emigration
and flight to the Soviet Union, no more than 1,000, were under
German control. These incontrovertible facts, havewo not prevent
Manvell and Frankl asserting that "there had beem three million Jews
in Poland when Germany began the invasion" andinhe®42 "some two
million still awaited death" (ibid, p. 140). In deg, of the million or so
Jews in Poland, almost half, about 400,000 werateedly concentrated
in the ghetto of Warsaw, an area of about two armdlfé square miles
around the old mediaeval ghetto. The remainderair@hdy been moved
to the Polish Government-General by September 1@4he summer of
1942, Himmler ordered the resettlement of all Polisws in detention
camps in order to obtain their labour, part of #ystem of general
concentration for labour assignment in the Govemtr@eneral. Thus
between July and October 1942, over three quadérthe Warsaw
Ghetto's inhabitants were peacefully evacuated drahsported,
supervised by the Jewish police themselves. As wawe hseen,
transportation to camps is alleged to have endééxtermination”, but
there is absolutely no doubt from the evidencelalbks that it involved
only the effective procurement of labour and thevpntion of unrest. In
the first place, Himmler discovered on a surprisgtuvo Warsaw in
January 1943 that 24,000 Jews registered as arnsnverkers were in
fact working illegally as tailors and furriers (Magll and Frankl, ibid, p.
140); the Ghetto was also being used as a baseilbwersive forays into
the main area of Warsaw. After six months of peaoe¥acuation, when
only about 60,000 Jews remained in the resideghatto, the Germans
met with an armed rebellion on 18th January, 19&avell and Frankl
admit that "The Jews involved in planned resistamae for a long time
been engaged in smuggling arms from the outsidddywand combat
groups fired on and killed S.S. men and militichrarge of a column of
deportees." The terrorists in the Ghetto uprisimgenalso assisted by the
Polish Home Army and the PPR -- Polska Partia Robpa, the
Communist Polish Workers Party. It was under th@sgimstances of a
revolt aided by partisans and communists that teimying forces, as
any army would in a similar situation, moved irstgopress the terrorists,
if necessary by destroying the residential arealfitdt should be
remembered that the whole process of evacuationdwwave continued
peacefully had not extremists among the inhabitpldaned an armed
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rebellion which in the end was bound to fail. Wh8r8&. Lieutenant-

General Stroop entered the Ghetto with armoures @arl9th April, he

immediately came under fire and lost twelve menrn@a and Polish

casualties in the battle, which lasted four weédtslled 101 men killed

and wounded. Stubborn resistance by the Jewish @o@iganisation in

the face of impossible odds led to an estimate@QIR2Jewish casualties,
the majority by remaining in burning buildings addg-outs. A total,

however, of 56,065 inhabitants were captured ardqfally resettled in

the area of the Government-General. Many Jews nvithe Ghetto had
resented the terror imposed on them by the Comiggr@sation, and had
attempted to inform on their headquarters to ther@a authorities.

SUDDEN SURVIVORS

The circumstances surrounding the Warsaw Ghettoltreas well as the
deportations to eastern labour camps such as Auigchvas led to the
most colourful tales concerning the fate of Pollslwvs, the largest bloc of
Jewry in Europe. The Jewish Joint Distribution Cattew, in figures
prepared by them for the Nuremberg Trials, statatlin 1945 there were
only 80,000 Jews remaining in Poland. They alsegakl that there were
no Polish-Jewish displaced persons left in Germamnpustria, a claim
that was at some variance with the number of PQksis arrested by the
British and Americans for black market activitiddowever, the new
Communist regime in Poland was unable to prevangpr anti-Jewish
pogrom at Kielce on July 4th, 1946 and more thad,d® Polish Jews
suddenly fled into Western Germany. Their appeaamas somewhat
embarrassing, and their emigration to PalestinetlaadUnited States was
carried out in record time. Subsequently, the nunddePolish Jewish
survivors underwent considerable revision; in thmefdican-Jewish Year
Book 1948-1949 it was placed at 390,000 quite amamack on the
original 80,000. We may expect further revisionsvags in the future.

7.SOME CONCENTRATION CAMP MEMOIRS

The most influential agency in the propagation loé textermination
legend has been the paper-back book and magaznstip, and it is
through their sensational publications, producectfommercial gain, that
the average person is made acquainted with a nfigh entirely political
character and purpose. The hey-day of these hateaBg books was in
the 1950's, when virulent Germanophobia found dyeaarket, but the
industry continues to flourish and is experiencargpther boom today.
The industry's products consist generally of séedal'memoirs”, and
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these fall into two basic categories: those whiehsaipposedly by former
S.S. men, camp commandants and the like, and thlmslcurdling
reminiscences allegedly by former concentrationgamates.

COMMUNIST ORIGINS

Of the first kind, the most outstanding exampleGemmandant of
Auschwitz by Rudolf HOss (London, 1960), which wasginally
published in the Polish language as Wspomnieniath®/' Communist
Government. Hoss, a young man who took over at Awgz in 1940,
was first arrested by the British and detained labh$burg, but he was
soon handed over to the Polish Communist authsritibo condemned
him to death in 1947 and executed him almost imatetyi. The so-called
Hoss memoirs are undoubtedly a forgery producecdeiuu@bmmunist
auspices, as we shall demonstrate, though the Camtauhemselves
claim that Hoss was "ordered to write the stonhisf life" and a hand-
written original supposedly exists, but no one &asr seen it. Hoss was
subjected to torture and brain-washing techniqueshle Communists
during the period of his arrest, and his testimatyNuremberg was
delivered in a mindless monotone as he stared lylanto space. Even
Reitlinger rejects this testimony as hopelesslyustivorthy. It is indeed
remarkable how much of the "evidence" regardingSheMillion stems
from Communist sources; this includes the majorudoents such as the
Wisliceny statement and the Hoss "memoirs”, whighumdoubtedly the
two most quoted items in extermination literatuas, well as all the
information on the so-called "death camps" suchAaschwitz. This
information comes from the Jewish Historical Consiaa of Poland; the
Central Commission for the Investigation of Warras, Warsaw; and
the Russian State War Crimes Commission, Moscowitlifgr
acknowledges that the Hoss testimony at Nurembexg avcatalogue of
wild exaggerations, such as that Auschwitz was adisyy of 16,000
people a day, which would mean a total at the driieowar of over 13
million. Instead of exposing such estimates for So®iet-inspired frauds
they obviously are, Reitlinger and others preferthink that such
ridiculous exaggerations were due to "pride" inndoa professional job.
Ironically, this is completely irreconcilable withe supposedly authentic
Ho6ss memoirs, which make a clever attempt at @ditgiby suggesting
the opposite picture of distaste for the job. Hisssupposed to have
"confessed" to a total of 3 million people exteratgd at Auschwitz,
though at his own trial in Warsaw the prosecutieduced the number to
1,135,000. However, we have already noted thaSthaet Government
announced an official figure of 4 million after thénvestigation" of the
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camp in 1945. This kind of casual juggling with Iroihs of people does
not appear to worry the writers of exterminaticeriture. A review of
the HOss "memoirs” in all their horrid detail wouté tedious. We may
confine ourselves to those aspects of the extetmmégend which are
designed with the obvious purpose of forestalling jproof of its falsity.
Such, for example, is the manner in which the alflegxtermination of
Jews is described. This was supposed to have bemeed out by a
"special detachment” of Jewish prisoners. They wukrge of the newly
arrived contingents at the camp, led them into ém®rmous "gas-
chambers" and disposed of the bodies afterwards.SI8., therefore, did
very little, so that most of the S.S. personnghatcamp could be left in
complete ignorance of the "extermination programr¥'‘course, no Jew
would ever be found who claimed to have been a meendb this
gruesome "special detachment", so that the whokeisis left
conveniently unprovable. It is worth repeating that living, authentic
eye-witness to these events has ever been proddoedlusive evidence
that the Hoss memoirs are a forgery lies in anediitde slip by the
Communist editors. Hoss is supposed to say thaléhevah's Witnesses
at Auschwitz approved of murdering the Jews becthusdews were the
enemies of Christ. It is well known that in Soviaissia today and in all
her satellite countries of eastern Europe, the Consts conduct a bitter
campaign of suppression against the Jehovah's §ggsewhom they
regard as the religious sect most dangerous to Consinbeliefs. That
this sect is deliberately and grossly defamed enHliss memoirs proves
the document's Communist origins beyond any doubt.

INCRIMINATING REMINISCENCES

Certainly the most bogus "memoirs" yet published #ose of Adolf
Eichmann. Before his illegal kidnapping by the &isin May, 1960 and
the attendant blaze of international publicity, fpeople had ever heard
of him . He was indeed a relatively unimportantsper, the head of
Office Adb in Department IV (the Gestapo) of theidReSecurity Head
Office. His office supervised the transportationditention camps of a
particular section of enemy aliens, the Jews. Aitpes flood of
unadulterated rubbish about Eichmann showered tiddwin 1960, of
which we may cite as an example Comer Clarke'sriaeim: The Savage
Truth. ("The orgies often went on until six in therning, a few hours
before consigning the next batch of victims to Hgasays Clarke in his
chapter "Streamlined Death and Wild Sex Orgies,"24). Strangely
enough, the alleged "memoirs" of Adolf Eichmanndrmdy appeared at
the time of his abduction to Israel. They were umally published by
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the American Life magazine (November 28th, Decenaibler 1960), and
were supposed to have been given by Eichmann tmmaglist in the
Argentine shortly before his capture -- an amazogcidence. Other
sources, however, gave an entirely different actafntheir origin,
claiming that they were a record based on Eichmacomments to an
"associate" in 1955, though no one even botheredetatify this person.
By an equally extraordinary coincidence, war crimesestigators
claimed shortly afterwards to have just "foundthe archives of the U.S.
Library of Congress, more than fifteen years atterwar, the "complete
file" of Eichmann's department. So far as the "miesidhemselves are
concerned, they were made to be as horribly ino@atmg as possible
without straying too far into the realms of the gmirfantasy, and depict
Eichmann speaking with enormous relish about "thesieal annihilation
of the Jews." Their fraudulence is also attestedyovarious factual
errors, such as that Himmler was already in commainthe Reserve
Army by April of 1944, instead of after the Julyoplkhgainst Hitler's life,
a fact which Eichmann would certainly have knowheTappearance of
these "memoirs" at precisely the right moment saise doubt that their
object was to present a pre-trial propaganda pmctfrthe archetypal
"unregenerate Nazi" and fiend in human shape. Trearostances of the
Eichmann trial in Israel do not concern us here;dbcuments of Soviet
origin which were used in evidence, such as thelid®isy statement,
have been examined already, and for an accounhefthird-degree
methods used on Eichmann during his captivity todee him "co-
operative" the reader is referred to the London islkewChronicle,
September 2nd, 1960. More relevant to the liteeatidirthe extermination
legend are the contents of a letter which Eichmansupposed to have
written voluntarily and handed over to his captorsBuenos Aries. It
need hardly be added that its Israeli authorshipaissparently obvious.
Nothing in it stretches human credulity furtherrthhe phrase "I am
submitting this declaration of my own free will'utsthe most hollow and
revealing statement of all is his alleged willingago appear before a
court in Israel, "so that a true picture may bendmaitted to future
generations."

TREBLINKA FABRICATIONS
The latest reminiscences to appear in print arsetfud Franz Stangl, the

former commandant of the camp at Treblinka in Pdblavho was
sentenced to life imprisonment in December 197@s€&hwere published
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in an article by the London Daily Telegraph Magazi©ctober 8th,
1971, and were supposed to derive from a seriggarviews with Stangl
in prison. He died a few days after the intervievese concluded. These
alleged reminiscences are certainly the goriest anodt bizarre yet
published, though one is grateful for a few admoissiby the writer of the
article, such as that "the evidence presentedarctiurse of his trial did
not prove Stangl himself to have committed spe@fits of murder" and
that the account of Stangl's beginnings in Polamehs” in part
fabrication." A typical example of this fabricatiavas the description of
Stangl's first visit to Treblinka. As he drew irttee railway station there,
he is supposed to have seen "thousands of bod&sstyewn around next
to the tracks, "hundreds, no, thousands of bodiesye/here, putrefying,
decomposing.” And "in the station was a train fifllJews, some dead,
some still alive ... it looked as if it had beeerh for days." The account
reaches the heights of absurdity when Stangl égedl to have got out of
his car and "stepped kneedeep into money: | didoiv which way to
turn, which way to go. | waded in papernotes, aqwye precious stones,
jewellery and clothes. They were everywhere, stralivaver the square."
The scene is completed by "whores from Warsaw wgawdrunk,
dancing, singing, playing music", who were on thbeo side of the
barbed wire fences. To literally believe this agtowf sinking
"kneedeep" in Jewish bank-notes and precious stames thousands of
putrefying corpses and lurching, singing prostguteould require the
most phenomenal degree of gullibility, and in amgwmstances other
than the Six Million legend it would be dismissesdthe most outrageous
nonsense. The statement which certainly robs taegbtmemoirs of any
vestige of authenticity is his alleged reply wheked why he thought the
Jews were being exterminated: "They wanted the 'Jewsey," is the
answer. "That racial business was just secondafyhé series of
interviews are supposed to have ended on a highityods note indeed.
When asked whether he thought there had been 'tarmgeivable sense in
this horror,” the former Nazi commandant supposediplied with
enthusiasm: "Yes, | am sure there was. Perhapdetve were meant to
have this enormous jolt to pull them together; teate a people; to
identify themselves with each other." One couldsag imagine a more
perfect answer had it been invented.

BEST-SELLER A HOAX
Of the other variety of memoirs, those which présemicture of frail

Jewry caught in the vice of Nazism, the most celal is undoubtedly
The Diary of Anne Frank, and the truth concernimg book is only one
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appalling insight into the fabrication of a propada legend . First
published in 1952, The Diary of Anne Frank becamenamediate best-
seller; since then it has been republished in phpek, going through 40
Impressions, and was made into a successful Hotgwitm. In royalties
alone, Otto Frank, the qirl's father, has madetahe from the sale of the
book, which purports to represent the real-lifegéidy of his daughter.
With its direct appeal to the emotions, the bookl dhe film have
influenced literally millions of people, certainijmore throughout the
world than any other story of its kind. And yet ypskeven years after its
initial publication, a New York Supreme Court castablished that the
book was a hoax. The Diary of Anne Frank has be&hts the public as
the actual diary of a young Jewish girl from Amdtan, which she wrote
at the age of 12 while her family and four othewgaevere hiding in the
back room of a house during the German occupakwentually, they
were arrested and detained in a concentration camere Anne Frank
supposedly died when she was 14. When Otto Frarsklivarated from
the camp at the end of the war, he returned tAthsterdam house and
"found" his daughter's diary concealed in the raftdhe truth about the
Anne Frank Diary was first revealed in 1959 by 8weedish journal Fria
Ord. It established that the Jewish novelist Mdyevin had written the
dialogue of the "diary" and was demanding paymenthis work in a
court action against Otto Frank. A condensatiorthef Swedish articles
appeared in the American Economic Council LettewilAL5th, 1959, as
follows: "History has many examples of myths thatla longer and
richer life than truth, and may become more eftecthan truth. "The
Western World has for some years been made awaee Jefwish girl
through the medium of what purports to be her peakp written story,
Anne Frank's Diary. Any informed literary inspectiof this book would
have shown it to have been impossible as the wbrk teenager. "A
noteworthy decision of the New York Supreme Coortfecms this point
of view, in that the well known American Jewish teri Meyer Levin,
has been awarded $50,000 to be paid him by therfathAnne Frank as
an honorarium for Levin's work on the Anne Frankii "Mr. Frank, in
Switzerland, has promised to pay to his race kiey®t Levin, not less
than $50,000 because he had used the dialoguetbdAevin just as it
was and "implanted" it in the diary as being hisigi#er's intellectual
work." Further inquiries brought a reply on May ,71962 from a firm of
New York lawyers, which stated: "l was the attoreyMeyer Levin in
his action against Otto Frank, and others. It u® tthat a jury awarded
Mr. Levin $50,000 in damages, as indicated in yietter. That award
was later set aside by the trial justice, Hon. S&indu Coleman, on the
ground that the damages had not been proved imémner required by
law. The action was subsequently settled while ppeal from Judge
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Coleman's decision was pending. "I am afraid thatdase itself is not
officially reported, so far as the trial itself, even Judge Coleman's
decision, is concerned. Certain procedural mattene reported in 141
New York Supplement, Second Series 170, and incCor#eSeries 181.
The correct file number in the New York County @lsroffice is 2241 --
1956 and the file is probably a large and full one" Here, then, is just
one more fraud in a whole series of frauds perfetran support of the
"Holocaust" legend and the saga of the Six Milli@rf.course, the court
case bearing directly on the authenticity of thendrFrank Diary was
"not officially reported”. A brief reference maysal be made to another
"diary", published not long after that of Anne Fkaand entitled: Notes
from the Warsaw Ghetto: the Journal of Emmanuelg8islum (New
York, 1958). Ringelblum had been a leader in themagn of sabotage
against the Germans in Poland, as well as the tr@fothe Warsaw
Ghetto in 1943, before he was eventually arrestetlexecuted in 1944.
The Ringelblum journal, which speaks of the usuahioburs” allegedly
circulating about the extermination of the Jew®daland, appeared under
exactly the same Communist auspices as the salcHiiss memoirs.
McGraw-Hill, the publishers of the American editjoadmit that they
were denied access to the uncensored original mapus Warsaw, and
instead faithfully followed the expurgated volumebpshed by the
Communist Government in Warsaw in 1952. All theogds" of the
Holocaust issuing from Communist sources of thlkare worthless as
historical documents.

ACCUMULATING MYTHS

Since the war, there has been an abundant growtlsenational
concentration camp literature, the majority ofawidsh, each book piling
horror upon horror, blending fragments of truthhahe most grotesque
of fantasies and impostures, relentessly creatmgdifice of mythology
in which any relation to historical fact has longce disappeared. We
have referred to the type already - Olga Lengydsurd Five Chimneys
(24,000 corpses handled every day"), Doctor atcAustz by Miklos
Nyiszli, apparently a mythical and invented persbims was Auschwitz:
The Story of a Murder Camp by Philip Friedman, andon ad nauseam
The latest in this vein is For Those | Loved by tMaiGray (Bodley
Head, 1973), which purports to be an account of éxperiences at
Treblinka camp in Poland. Gray specialised in sgllfake antiques to
America before turning to concentration camp memoiThe
circumstances surrounding the publication of hiskydhowever, have
been unique, because for the first time with waskshis kind, serious
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doubt was cast on the authenticity of its contelat®n Jews, alarmed at
the damage it might cause, denounced his book asddtent and
guestioned whether he had ever been at Treblinkal,atvhile B.B.C.
radio pressed him as to why he had waited 28 ya=fige writing of his
experiences. It was interesting to observe that"Bersonal Opinion"
column of the London Jewish Chronicle, March 30t@73, although it
roundly condemned Gray's book, nevertheless maaledgrse additions
to the myth of the Six Million. It stated that: "Bidy a million people
were murdered in Treblinka in the course of a y&&000 were fed into
the gas chambers every day." It is a pity indeatl b many people read
and accept this kind of nonsense without exercigieg minds. If 18,000
were murdered every day, the figure of one milliaould be reached in a
mere 56 days, not "in the course of a year." Thgagic achievement
would leave the remaining ten months of the yetotal blank. 18,000
every day would in fact mean a total of 6,480,000the course of a
year." Does this mean that the Six Million diedtwmelve months at
Treblinka? What about the alleged three or fourliomlat Auschwitz?
This kind of thing simply shows that, once the s&prous compromise
figure of Six Million had scored a resounding swesceand become
internationally accepted, any number of imposspg#enutations can be
made and no one would even think to criticise thémits review of
Gray's book, the Jewish Chronicle column also plesia revealing
insight into the fraudulent allegations concerngegs-chambers: "Gray
recalls that the floors of the gas chambers slopdigreas another
survivor who helped to build them maintains thaythvere at a level ..."
Occasionally, books by former concentration canmates appear which
present a totally different picture of the condiBoprevailing in them.
Such is Under Two Dictators (London, 1950) by Maegea Buber. She
was. a German-Jewish woman who had experiencedaégars in the
brutal and primitive conditions of a Russian priscamp before being
sent to Ravensbrick, the German camp for womenngets, in August
1940. She noted that she was the only Jewish pandoer contingent of
deportees from Russia who was not straight awagaseld by the
Gestapo. Her book presents a striking contrast detwthe camps of
Soviet Russia and Germany; compared to the squdiearder and
starvation of the Russian camp, she found Raveokbtdl be clean,
civilised and well-administered. Regular baths alehn linen seemed a
luxury after her earlier experiences, and her fingtal of white bread,
sausage, sweet porridge and dried fruit promptedochi@quire of another
camp inmate whether August 3rd, 1940 was some cforoliday or
special occasion. She observed, too, that the dkarrat Ravensbriick
were remarkably spacious compared to the crowded haut of the
Soviet camp. In the final months of 1945, she expeed the progressive
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decline of camp conditions, the causes of whichshal examine later.
Another account which is at total variance with plap propaganda is
Die Gestapo Lasst Bitten (The Gestapo Invites Yby) Charlotte
Bormann, a Communist political prisoner who wasoaisterned at
Ravensbrick. Undoubtedly its most important revahats the author's
statement that rumours of gas executions were etalié and malicious
inventions circulated among the prisoners by then@anists. This latter
group did not accept Margarete Buber because ofrhgrnsonment in
Soviet Russia. A further shocking reflection on gust-war trials is the
fact that Charlotte Bormann was not permitted wlifte at the Rastadt
trial of Ravensbrick camp personnel in the Frematupation zone, the
usual fate of those who denied the exterminatigend.

8. THE NATURE and CONDITION OF WAR-TIME
CONCENTRATION CAMPS

In his recent book Adolf Hitler (London, 1973), @olCross, who brings
more intelligence than is usual to many problemthisf period, observes
astutely that "The shuffling of millions of Jewsoand Europe and
murdering them, in a time of desperate war emenrgemas useless from
any rational point of view" (p. 307). Quite so, aadthis point we may
well question the likelihood of this irrationalisind whether it was even
possible. Is it likely, that at the height of thanwvhen the Germans were
fighting a desperate battle for survival on twontxy they would have
conveyed millions of Jews for miles to supposedaberate and costly
slaughter houses? To have conveyed three or folllomiJews to
Auschwitz alone (even supposing that such an edlaiumber existed in
Europe, which it did not), would have placed amuperable burden upon
German transportation facilities which were strdin® the limit in
supporting the farflung Russian front. To have sported the mythical
six million Jews and countless numbers of otherionatities to
internment camps, and to have housed, clothedexhthém there, would
simply have paralysed their military operations.eféis no reason to
suppose that the efficient Germans would havehmit military fortunes
at such risk. On the other hand, the transportatianreasonable 363,000
prisoners to Auschwitz in the course of the wae (tlmmber we know to
have been registered there) at least makes senderrnms of the
compulsory labour they supplied. In fact, of thenflion Jews living in
Europe, it is certain that no more than two millware ever interned at
one time, and it is probable that the number washmaloser to
1,500,000. We shall see later, in the Report ofRkd Cross, that whole
Jewish populations such as that of Slovakia avodktdntion in camps,

50



while others were placed in community ghettos likieeresienstadt.
Moreover, from western Europe deportations were fewer. The
estimate of Reitlinger that only about 50,000 Fredews from a total
population of 320,000 were deported and internecbien noted already.
The question must also be asked as to whether uldcbave been
physically possible to destroy the millions of Jewat are alleged. Had
the Germans enough time for it? Is it likely thaey would have
cremated people by the million when they were swtsbf manpower and
required all prisoners of war for purposes of werdpiction? Would it
have been possible to destroy and remove all wheemillion people in
six months? Could such enormous gatherings of d@dsexecutions on
such a vast scale have been kept secret? The#ieeakend of questions
that the critical, thinking person should ask. Amel will soon discover
that not only the statistical and documentary ewgegiven here, but
simple logistics combine to discredit the legendtioé six million.
Although it was impossible for millions to have bemurdered in them,
the nature and conditions of Germany's concentrateamps have been
vastly exaggerated to make the claim plausible.li&l Shirer, in a
typically reckless passage, states that "All oftthgy odd principal Nazi
concentration camps were death camps" (ibid, pO)15his is totally
untrue, and is not even accepted now by the p@hg@mpagators of the
extermination legend. Shirer also quotes Eugen Kisgbhe Theory and
Practice of Hell (N.Y. 1950, p. 227) which puts ttetal number of
deaths in all of them at the ridiculous figure ¢125,000, though Shirer
admits in a footnote that this is "undoubtedly bogh."

'‘DEATH CAMPS' BEHIND THE IRON CURTAIN

It is true that in 1945, Allied propaganda did wciaithat all the
concentration camps, particularly those in Germasgif, were "death
camps"”, but not for long. On this question, the remt American
historian Harry Elmer Barnes wrote: "These campsewst presented
as those in Germany, such as Dachau, Belsen, Buwelein
Sachsenhausen and Dora, but it was soon demoadstrate there had
been no systematic extermination in those camptenfddn was then
moved to Auschwitz, Treblinka, Belzec, Chelmno, cleska, Tarnow,
Ravensbrick, Mauthausen, Brezeznia and Birkenaugchwdoes not
exhaust the list that appears to have been extemsle@eded" (Rampart
Journal, Summer 1967). What had happened was #rédirc honest
observers among the British and American occupatiorces in
Germany, while admitting that many inmates had dédlisease and
starvation in the final months of the war, had fdumo evidence after all

51



of "gas chambers". As a result, eastern camps @nRlissian zone of
occupation such as Auschwitz and Treblinka gragiuzdime to the fore
as horrific centres of extermination (though no aras permitted to see
them), and this tendency has lasted to the predayt Here in these
camps it was all supposed to have happened, bbttha Iron Curtain
brought down firmly over them, no one has ever kadde to verify such
charges. The Communists claimed that four milliomogle died at
Auschwitz in gigantic gas chambers accommodatifg@ people -- and
no one could argue to the contrary. What is thin talbout so-called "gas
chambers"? Stephen F. Pinter, who served as a llafoyehe United
States War Department in the occupation forcesamfany and Austria
for six years after the war, made the followingtesteent in the widely
read Catholic magazine Our Sunday Visitor, Juné 14t959: "I was in
Dachau for 17 months after the war, as a U.S. Deat Attorney, and
can state that there was no gas chamber at Dad¥faat. was shown to
visitors and sightseers there and erroneously ibestas a gas chamber
was a crematory. Nor was there a gas chamber ino&rthe other
concentration camps in Germany. We were told thatet was a gas
chamber at Auschwitz, but since that was in the skns zone of
occupation, we were not permitted to investigatecesithe Russians
would not allow it. From what | was able to detemeduring six postwar
years in Germany and Austria, there were a numbdews Kkilled, but
the figure of a million was certainly never reachddinterviewed
thousands of Jews, former immates of concentratgonps in Germany
and Austria, and consider myself as well qualifesdany man on this
subject.” This tells a very different story fronetbustomary propaganda.
Pinter, of course, is very astute on the questiothe crematory being
represented as a gas chamber. This is a frequeyntbgicause no such
thing as a gas chamber has ever been shown toiexieese camps,
hence the deliberately misleading term a "gas qwanied at confusing a
gas chamber with a crematorium. The latter, usuwabyngle furnace and
similar to the kind of thing employed today, wersed quite simply for
the cremation of those persons who had died fronows natural causes
within the camp, particularly infectious disease€Bhis fact was
conclusively proved by the German archbishop, @atdiFaulhaber of
Munich. He informed the Americans that during thidedl air raids on
Munich in September 1944, 30,000 people were killdte archbishop
requested the authorities at the time to crematdbties of the victims
In the crematorium at Dachau. But he was told thafortunately, this
plan could not be carried out; the crematorium,gwonly one furnace,
was not able to cope with the bodies of the aid nactims. Clearly,
therefore, it could not have coped with the 238,08@ish bodies which
were allegedly cremated there. In order to do ls®,ctematorium would
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have to be kept going for 326 years without stoppamd 530 tons of
ashes would have been recovered.

CASUALTY FIGURES REDUCED

The figures of Dachau casualties are typical ofkinel of exaggerations
that have since had to be drastically revised. 961 a memorial plague
was unveiled at Dachau by Philip Auerbach, the de\8tate-Secretary in
the Bavarian Government who was convicted for emliveg money
which he claimed as compensation for non-existemis] The plaque
read: "This area is being retained as a shriné&o288,000 individuals
who were cremated here." Since then, the officgéaualty figures have
had to be steadily revised downwards, and now sahmmohly 20,600 the
majority from typhus and starvation only at the esfdthe war. This
deflation, to ten per cent of the original figuva)l doubtless continue,
and one day will be applied to the legendary figofesix million as a
whole. Another example of drastic revision is thregent estimate of
Auschwitz casualties. The absurd allegations oéehor four million
deaths there are no longer plausible even to Rgéti He now puts the
number of casualties at only 600,000; and althotig$ figure is still
exaggerated in the extreme, it is a significanucéidn on four million
and further progress is to be expected. Shirerdiinggiotes Reitlinger's
latest estimate, but he fails to reconcile thiswhiis earlier statement that
half of that figure, about 300,000 Hungarian Jevesersupposedly "done
to death in forty-six days" - a supreme example tloé kind of
irresponsible nonsense that is written on thisestibj

HUMANE CONDITIONS

That several thousand camp inmates did die inhlete final months of

the war brings us to the question of their war-tooaditions. These have
been deliberately falsified in innumerable booksifextremely lurid and
unpleasant kind. The Red Cross Report, examineaivhalemonstrates
conclusively that throughout the war the camps wee# administered.

The working inmates received a daily ration evemughout 1943 and
1944 of not less than 2,750 calories, which wasentban double the
average civilian ration in occupied Germany in years after 1945. The
internees were under regular medical care, andeth@so became
seriously ill were transferred to hospital. All enbees, unlike those in
Soviet camps, could receive parcels of food, cimfland pharmaceutical
supplies from the Special Relief Division of thedRéross. The Office of
the Public Prosecutor conducted thorough investigatinto each case of
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criminal arrest, and those found innocent wereassd; those found
guilty, as well as those deportees convicted ofomajimes within the
camp, were sentenced by military courts and exdcute the Federal
Archives of Koblenz there is a directive of Janua®43 from Himmler
regarding such executions, stressing that "no hiutés to be allowed"
(Manvell and Frankl), ibid, p. 312). Occasionalhete was brutality, but
such cases were immediately scrutinised by S.SgeJudr. Konrad
Morgen of the Reich Criminal Police Office, whosé was to investigate
irregularities at the various camps. Morgen hims@ifosecuted
commander Koch of Buchenwald in 1943 for excessbgsaamp, a trial
to which the German public were invited. It is sfggant that Oswald
Pohl, the administrator of the concentration caygiesn who was dealt
with so harshly at Nuremberg, was in favour of teath penalty for
Koch. In fact, the S.S. court did sentence Koctidath, but he was given
the option of serving on the Russian front. Before could do this,
however, Prince Waldeck, the leader of the S.#emdistrict, carried out
his execution. This case is ample proof of theossness with which the
S.S. regarded unnecessary brutality. Several @t actions of this
kind were conducted in the camps during the waréwent excesses, and
more than 800 cases were investigated before 18@dfgen testified at
Nuremberg that he discussed confidentially withdreds of inmates the
prevailing conditions in the camps. He found fewatthwere
undernourished except in the hospitals, and nobed the pace and
achievement in compulsory labour by inmates wasofaer than among
German civilian workers. The evidence of Pinter @aitdinal Faulhaber
has been shown to disprove the claims of extermimait Dachau, and
we have seen how the casualty figures of that cdrape been
continuously revised downwards. The camp at Daclesmr Munich, in
fact, may be taken as fairly typical of these pdaad internment.
Compulsory labour in the factories and plants weesdrder of the day,
but the Communist leader Ernst Ruff testified isa Nuremberg affidavit
of April 18th, 1947 that the treatment of prisonensthe work details and
in the camp of Dachau remained humane. The Potiderground leader,
Jan Piechowiak, who was at Dachau from May 22nd01léntil April
29th, 1945 also testified on March 21st, 1946 tphasoners there
received good treatment, and that the S.S. perb@tirtbe camp were
"well disciplined". Berta Schirotschin, who workadthe food service at
Dachau throughout the war, testified that the waykinmates, until the
beginning of 1945 and despite increasing privatiosermany, received
their customary second breakfast at 10 a.m. evamnimg. In general,
hundreds of affidavits from Nuremberg testify t@ thumane conditions
prevailing in concentration camps; but emphasis ingariably laid on
those which reflected badly on the German admatisin and could be

54



used for propaganda purposes. A study of the doetsnadso reveals that
Jewish witnesses who resented their deportationrdathment in prison
camps tended to greatly exaggerate the rigoutsenf ¢condition, whereas
other nationals interned for political reasons,hsas those cited above,
generally presented a more balanced picture. Inyncaises, prisoners
such as Charlotte Bormann, whose experiences dicdctord with the
picture presented at Nuremberg, were not permitteestify.

UNAVOIDABLE CHAOS

The orderly situation prevailing in the German aamtcation camps
slowly broke down in the last fearful months of 594he Red Cross
Report of 1948 explains that the saturation bombioygthe Allies
paralysed the transport and communications systahedReich, no food
reached the camps and starvation claimed an inogeasumber of
victims, both in prison camps and among the cinilipopulation of
Germany. This terrible situation was compoundetha camps both by
great overcrowding and the consequent outbreakymifus epidemics.
Overcrowding occurred as a result of prisoners ftbm eastern camps
such as Auschwitz being evacuated westward befope Russian
advance; columns of such exhausted people arrivesgt\eeral German
camps such as Belsen and Buchenwald which had #hesssreached a
state of great hardship. Belsen camp near Bremeninvan especially
chaotic condition in these months and Himmler's spdign, Felix
Kersten, an anti-Nazi, explains that its unfortenaputation as a "death
camp" was due solely to the ferocity of the typkpglemic which broke
out there in March 1945 (Memoirs 1940-1945, Londoth956).
Undoubtedly these fearful conditions cost sevdralisand lives, and it is
these conditions that are represented in the pheqtbg of emaciated
human beings and heaps of corpses which the progegs delight in
showing, claiming, that they are victims of "extamation". A
surprisingly honest appraisal of the situation atsBn in 1945 appeared
in Purnell's History of the Second World War (V@l. No. 15) by Dr.
Russell Barton, now superintendent and consultasyctpatrist at
Severalls Hospital, Essex, who spent one montheatamp as a medical
student after the war. His account vividly illusesthe true causes of the
mortality that occurred in such camps toward thésaend, and how such
extreme conditions came to prevail there. Dr. Bargxplains that
Brigadier Glyn Hughes, the British Medical Offioeho took command
of Belsen in 1945, "did not think there had beew atrocities in the
camp" despite discipline and hard work "Most pegpleites Dr. Barton,
"attributed the conditions of the inmates to deklte intention on the part
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of the Germans. . Inmates were eager to cite exaampl brutality and
neglect, and visiting journalists from differentucries interpreted the
situation according to the needs of propagandaoateti’ However, Dr.
Barton makes it quite clear that the conditionstafvation and disease
were unavoidable in the circumstances and thataleyrred only during
the months of 1945. "From discussions with prissniérseemed that
conditions in the camp were not too bad until E8d4. The huts were set
among pine trees and each was provided with laestowash basins,
showers and stoves for heating." The cause of fdoaitage is also
explained. "German medical officers told me thdatl been increasingly
difficult to transport food to the camp for some ntits. Anything that
moved on the autobahns was likely to be bombeldwas surprised to
find records, going back for two or three yeardaofe quantities of food
cooked daily for distribution. At that time | becamonvinced, contrary
to popular opinion, that there had never been acyaf deliberate
starvation. This was confirmed by the large numioénsell-fed inmates.
Why then were so many people suffering from maktan? ... The
major reasons for the state of Belsen were disgasss overcrowding by
central authority, lack of law and order within thats, and inadequate
supplies of food, water and drugs." The lack ofeoydvhich led to riots
over food distribution, was quelled by British maahkgun fire and a
display of force when British tanks and armourecs ¢aured the camp.
Apart from the unavoidable deaths in these circants, Glyn Hughes
estimated that about "1,000 were killed through kimeiness of English
soldiers giving them their own rations and choaddt As a man who
was at Belsen, Dr. Barton is obviously very mualieato the falsehoods
of concentration camp mythology, and he conclutiestrying to assess
the causes of the conditions found in Belsen onstroa alerted to the
tremendous visual display, ripe for purposes oppganda, that masses
of starved corpses presented." To discuss suchitmmgl "naively in
terms of 'goodness' and '‘badness’ is to ignoreahstituent factors..."

FAKE PHOTOGRAPHS

Not only were situations such as those at Belssorupulously exploited
for propaganda purposes, but this propaganda Isms mhde use of
entirely fake atrocity photographs and films. Theér@me conditions at
Belsen applied to very few camps indeed; the gregority escaped the
worst difficulties and all their inmates survived good health. As a
result, outright forgeries were used to exaggecatalitions of horror. A
startling case of such forgery was revealed inBhtesh Catholic Herald
of October 29th, 1948. It reported that in Casséiere every adult

56



German was compelled to see a film representing "Hugrors" of
Buchenwald, a doctor from Goettingen saw himselfrenscreen looking
after the victims. But he had never been to BuclaawAfter an interval
of bewilderment he realised that what he had seas part of a film
taken after the terrible air raid on Dresden byAhes on 13th February,
1945, where the doctor had been working. The filmquestion was
shown in Cassel on 19th October, 1948. After theraid on Dresden,
which killed a record 135 000 people, mostly rekiggomen and
children, the bodies of the victims were piled &udned in heaps of 400
and 500 for several weeks. These were the scengmrpng to be from
Buchenwald, which the doctor had recognised.

The forgery of war-time atrocity photographs is m&w. For further

information the reader is referred to Arthur Porsos book Falsehood in
Wartime (London, 1928), which exposes the faked tqraphs of

German atrocities in the First World War. Ponsontiyes such

fabrications as "The Corpse Factory" and "The BaigBaby without

Hands", which are strikingly reminiscent of the pmganda relating to
Nazi "atrocities”. F. J. P. Veale explains in hiok that the bogus ‘jar of
human soap" solemnly introduced by the Soviet aosen at

Nuremberg was a deliberate jibe at the famousdBritCorpse Factory"
myth, in which the ghoulish Germans were supposetatve obtained
various commodities from processing corpses (Vehid, p. 192). This

accusation was one for which the British Governnegmilogised after
1918. It received new life after 1945 in the taléamnp shades of human
skin, which was certainly as fraudulent as the &oVlhuman soap”. In
fact, from Manvell and Frankl we have the grudgadmission that the
lamp shade evidence at Buchenwald Trial "later apggeto be dubious”
(The Incomparable Crime, p. 84). It was given bygeatain Andreas
Pffffenberger in a "written affidavit" of the kindiscussed earlier, but in
1948 General Lucius Clay admitted that the affitkauvsed in the trial
appeared after more thorough investigation to hdeen mosdy
"hearsay."

An excellent work on the fake atrocity photogragsestaining to the
Myth of the Six Million is Dr. Udo Walendy's Bildokumente' flr die
Geschichtsschreibung? (Vlotho/Weser, 1973), and ftbe numerous
examples cited we illustrate one on this page. dhgin of the first
photograph is unknown, but the second is a phottegen Close
examination reveals immediately that the standilggirés have been
taken from the first photograph, and a heap of sEspsuper-imposed in
front of them. The fence has been removed, andnéirely new horror
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"photograph” created. This blatant forgery appearspage 341 of R.
Schnabel's book on the S.S., Macht ohne Moral: &okumentation
uber die SS (Frankfurt, 1957), with the caption Uausen”. (Walendy
cites eighteen other examples of forgery in Schimabeok). The same
photograph appeared in the Proceedings of thenkienal Military

Tribunal, Vol. XXX, p. 421, likewise purporting tbustrate Mauthausen
camp. It is also illustrated without a caption iug€éne Aroneanu's
Konzentrationlager Document F.321 for the Inteoval Court at
Nuremberg; Heinz Kihnrich's Der KZ-Staat (Berlif60, p. 81); Vaclav
Berdych's Mauthausen (Prague, 1959); and Robermilen's Hitler --

Aufstieg und Untergang des Dritten Reiches (Munid61).

9. THE JEWS AND THE CONCENTRATION CAMPS:
A FACTUAL APPRAISAL BY THE RED CROSS

There is one survey of the Jewish question in Eaieyring World War
Two and the conditions of Germany's concentratiammgs which is
almost unique in its honesty and objectivity, theee-volume Report of
the International Committee of the Red Cross o\dsvities during the
Second World War, Geneva, 1948. This compreherasseeunt from an
entirely neutral source incorporated and expandedfindings of two
previous works: Documents sur l'activité du CICRfaweur des civils
detenus dans les camps de concentration en Alleamd@39- 1945
(Geneva, 1946), and Inter Arma Caritas: the WortheflCRC during the
Second World War (Geneva, 1947). The team of asthoeaded by
Frédéric Siordet, explained in the opening pageth®fReport that their
object, in the tradition of the Red Cross, had be#mct political
neutrality , and herein lies its great value. TGRC successfully applied
the 1929 Geneva military convention in order tongatcess to civilian
internees held in Central and Western Europe bysérenany authorities.
By contrast, the ICRC was unable to gain any acieetiee Soviet Union,
which had failed to ratify the Convention. The mifis of civilian and
military internees held in the USSR, whose condgiavere known to be
by far the worst, were completely cut off from anyernational contact
or supervision. The Red Cross Report is of valuthat it first clarifies
the legitimate circumstances under which Jews weegained In
concentration camps, i.e. as enemy aliens. In ibasgr the two
categories. of civilian internees, the Report daishes the second type
as "Civilians deported on administrative groundsh (German,
"Schutzhaftlinge"), who were arrested for politiaal racial motives
because their presence was considered a dangdreté&tate or the
occupation forces" (Vol. 111, p. 73). These persansontinues, "were
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placed on the same footing as persons arrestednprnsoned under
common law for security reasons." (P.74). The Repdmits that the
Germans were at first reluctant to permit supeovidly the Red Cross of
people detained on grounds relating to security,blyuthe latter part of
1942, the ICRC obtained important concessions fféemmany. They

were permitted to distribute food parcels to majncentration camps in
Germany from August 1942, and "from February 1948vards this

concession was extended to all other camps andngtigVol. 111, p.

78). The ICRC soon established contact with cammpncandants and
launched a food relief programme which continuedutection until the

last months of 1945, letters of thanks for whicimeapouring in from

Jewish internees.

RED CROSS RECIPIENTS WERE JEWS

The Report states that "As many as 9,000 parcete wacked daily.
From the autumn of 1943 until May 1945, about 1,0QQ parcels with a
total weight of 4,500 tons were sent off to theamiration camps” (Vol.
[, p. 80). In addition to food, these containedotking and
pharmaceutical supplies. "Parcels were sent to &gcBuchenwald,
Sangerhausen, Sachsenhausen, Oranienburg, Floggdrdmdsberg-am-
Lech, Fl6ha, Ravensbrick, Hamburg-Neuengamme, Mas#n,
Theresienstadt, Auschwitz, Bergen-Belsen, to cangas Vienna and in
Central and Southern Germany. The principal reotgievere Belgians,
Dutch, French, Greeks, Italians, Norwegians, Pales stateless Jews"
(Vol. 1ll, p. 83). In the course of the war, "Theo@mittee was in a
position to transfer and distribute in the form refief supplies over
twenty million Swiss francs collected by Jewish fard organisations
throughout the world, in particular by the Americdoint Distribution
Committee of New York" (Vol. I, p. 644). This latterganisation was
permitted by the German Government to maintainceffiin Berlin until
the American entry into the war. The ICRC complditigat obstruction
of their vast relief operation for Jewish internemsme not from the
Germans but from the tight Allied blockade of Ewopost of their
purchases of relief food were made in Rumania, ldon@gnd Slovakia.
The ICRC had special praise for the liberal condsiwhich prevailed at
Theresienstadt up to the time of their last vitiesre in April 1945. This
camp, “"where there were about 40,000 Jews depdrted various
countries was a relatively privileged ghetto" (VBl, p. 75). According
to the Report, "The Committee's delegates were @bVisit the camp at
Theresienstadt (Terezin) which was used exclusif@yJews and was
governed by special conditions. From informatiorthgeed by the
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Committee, this camp had been started as an exgaritny certain
leaders of the Reich ... These men wished to dieelews the means of
setting up a communal life in a town under theimaagdministration and
possessing almost complete autonomy. . . two di&lsgeere able to visit
the camp on April 6th, 1945. They confirmed thecianable impression
gained on the first visit" (Vol. I, p . 642). ThERC also had praise for
the regime of lon Antonescu of Fascist Rumania ehbe Committee
was able to extend special relief to 183,000 Ruaradews until the time
of the Soviet occupation. The aid then ceased tla@dCRC complained
bitterly that it never succeeded "in sending amghwhatsoever to
Russia” (Vol. I, p. 62). The same situation appli® many of the
German camps after their "liberation" by the RussiaThe ICRC
received a voluminous flow of mail from Auschwitatih the period of
the Soviet occupation, when many of the interneesewevacuated
westward. But the efforts of the Red Cross to sesligf to internees
remaining at Auschwitz under Soviet control wergléu However, food
parcels continued to be sent to former Auschwitzates transferred west
to such camps as Buchenwald and Oranienburg.

NO EVIDENCE OF GENOCIDE

One of the most important aspects of the Red CRegsort is that it
clarifies the true cause of those deaths that usteédly occurred in the
camps toward the end of the war. Says the Reptnt:tHe chaotic
condition of Germany after the invasion during timal months of the
war, the camps received no food supplies at allstavation claimed an
increasing number of victims. Itself alarmed bysthituation, the German
Government at last informed the ICRC on Februatyli315 ... In March
1945, discussions between the President of the I&RICGeneral of the
S.S. Kaltenbrunner gave even more decisive residief could
henceforth be distributed by the ICRC, and onegité was authorised
to stay in each camp ..." (Vol. lll, p. 83). Clgathe German authorities
were at pains to relieve the dire situation asafithey were able. The
Red Cross are quite explicit in stating that foog@ies ceased at this
time due to the Allied bombing of German transptotg and in the
interests of interned Jews they had protested aciMEbth, 1944 against
"the barbarous aerial warfare of the Allies" (Infeima Caritas, p. 78).
By October 2nd, 1944, the ICRC warned the Germarigo Office of
the impending collapse of the German transportasigstem, declaring
that starvation conditions for people throughoutrfany were becoming
inevitable. In dealing with this comprehensive giwolume Report, it is
important to stress that the delegates of thenatenal Red Cross found
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no evidence whatever at the camps in Axis- occutedope of a
deliberate policy to exterminate the Jews. Intallli600 pages the Report
does not even mention such a thing as a gas chalhbdmits that Jews,
like many other wartime nationalities, sufferedougs and privations, but
its complete silence on the subject of planned rmiteation is ample
refutation of the Six Million legend. Like the Va#in representatives with
whom they worked, the Red Cross found itself unablendulge in the
irresponsible charges of genocide which had bedbmerder of the day.
So far as the genuine mortality rate is concertieel,Report points out
that most of the Jewish doctors from the camps wvimmiag used to
combat typhus on the eastern front, so that theg weavailable when
the typhus epidemics of 1945 broke out in the ca(Wos. |, p. 204 ff)-
Incidentally, it is frequently claimed that masseutions were carried
out in gas chambers cunningly disguised as shoagilities. Again the
Report makes nonsense of this allegation. "Not dméywashing places,
but installations for baths, showers and laundryewiaspected by the
delegates. They had often to take action to haxtirés made less
primitive, and to get them repaired or enlargedSI(M, p. 594).

NOT ALL WERE INTERNED

Volume Il of the Red Cross Report, Chapter 3 @wish Civilian

Population) deals with the "aid given to the Jewssiction of the free
population,” and this chapter makes it quite pthist by no means all of
the European Jews were placed in internment caims,remained,

subject to certain restrictions, as part of the ftevilian population. This
conflicts directly with the "thoroughness" of thgposed "extermination
programme"”, and with the claim in the forged HOsenmirs that

Eichmann was obsessed with seizing "every single ke could lay his
hands on." In Slovakia, for examle, where Eichmarmassistant Dieter
Wisliceny was in charge, the Report states thalatge proportion of the
Jewish minority had permission to stay in the coynand at certain
periods Slovakia was looked upon as a comparatverh of refuge for
Jews, especially for those coming from Poland. €hwebko remained in
Slovakia seem to have been in comparative safdtlythhe end of August
1944, when a rising against the German forces piade. While it is true
that the law of May 15th, 1942 had brought abowt iiternment of
several thousand Jews, these people were held mpscavhere the
conditions of food and lodging were tolerable, avitkre the internees
were allowed to do paid work on terms almost eqgoidhose of the free
labour market" (Vol. I, p. 646). Not only did largeimbers of the three
million or so European Jews avoid internment altoge but the
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emigration of Jews continued throughout the wanegaly by way of

Hungary, Rumania and Turkey. Ironically, post-wawish emigration

from German-occupied territories was also facgithby the Reich, as in
the case of the Polish Jews who had escaped tocd-rhafore its

occupation. "The Jews from Poland who, whilst iarfee, had obtained
entrance permits to the United States were helasetédmerican citizens
by the German occupying authorities, who furtheead to recognize the
validity of about three thousand passports issuedJéws by the
consulates of South American countries" (Vol.l6g5). As future U.S.
citizens, these Jews were held at the Vittel campouthern France for
American aliens. The emigration of European JewsnfiHungary in

particular proceeded during the war unhindered hg tGerman

authorities. "Until March 1944," says the. Red Gr&eport, "Jews who
had the privilege of visas for Palestine were frekeave Hungary" (Vol.

[, p. 648). Even after the replacement of the HofBlovernment in 1944
(following its attempted armistice with the Soviétnion) with a

govenment more dependent on German authority, rthgration of Jews
continued. The Committee secured the pledges df Botain and the

United States "to give support by every means ¢oetfmigration of Jews
from Hungary," and from the U.S. Govermnent the CCReceived a
message stating that "The Government of the Un#é&ates ... now
specifically repeats its assurance that arrangesnweifitbe made by it for
the care of all Jews who in the present circums&srare allowed to
leave" (Vol. I, p . 649).

10. THE TRUTH AT LAST: THE WORK OF PAUL RASSINIER

Without doubt the most important contribution térathful study of the
extermination question has been the work of thendhrehistorian,
Professor Paul Rassinier. The pre-eminent valudisfwork lies firstly
in the fact that Rassinier actually experience@ lih the German
concentration camps, and also that, as a Sociatsliectual and anti-
Nazi, nobody could be less inclined to defend Hittend National
Socialism. Yet, for the sake of justice and hig@@rtruth, Rassinier spent
the remainder of his post-war years until his deatil966 pursuing
research which utterly refuted the Myth of the BiMion and the legend
of Nazi diabolism. From 1933 until 1943, Rassinmas a professor of
history in the College d'enseignement général dtoBe Academie de
Besancon. During the war he engaged in resistactogtya until he was
arrested by the Gestapo on October 30th, 1943,aand result was
confined in the German concentration camps at Buehkl and Dora
until 1945. At Buchenwald, toward the end of therwae contracted
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typhus, which so damaged his health that he cowtd rasume his
teaching. After the war, Rassinier was awarded Nredaille de la
Résistance and the Reconnaisance Francaise, anctlecsd to the
French Chamber of Deputies, from which he was oudig the

Communists in November, 1946. Rassinier then endoadn his great
work, a systematic analysis of alleged German wWwacdies, in particular
the supposed "extermination" of the Jews. Not ssirgly, his writings

are little known; they have rarely been transldtredn the French and
none at all have appeared in English. His most napbd works were: Le
Mensonge d'Ulysse (The Lies of Odysseus, Paris9)1@¢h investigation
of concentration camp conditions based on his oxpem/ences of them;
and Ulysse trahi par les Siens (1960), a sequaethwhirther refuted the
Impostures of propagandists concerning German cdraten camps.
His monumental task was completed with two finallumees, Le

Véritable Proces Eichmann (1962) and Le Drame difs &uropéen
(1964), in which Rassinier exposes the dishonestrackless distortions
concerning the fate of the Jews by a careful sizdisanalysis. The last
work also examines the political and financial gigance of the

extermination legend and its exploitation by Israatl the Communist
powers. One of the many merits of Rassinier's werlexploding the
myth of unique German "wickedness"; and he revestls devastating
force how historical truth has been obliteratecaimimpenetrable fog of
partisan propaganda. His researches demonstratusmely that the
fate of the Jews during World War Two, once freeuht distortion and
reduced to proper proportions, loses its much elufenormity" and is
seen to be only one act in a greater and much widgedy. In an
extensive lecture tour in West Germany in the gpoh1960, Professor
Rassinier emphasised to his German audiences thasihigh time for a
rebirth of the truth regarding the exterminatiomded, and that the
Germans themselves should begin it since the aitggaemained a
wholly unjustifiable blot on Germany in the eyestod world.

THE IMPOSTURE OF 'GAS CHAMBERS'

Rassinier entitled his first book The Lies of Odssin commemoration
of the fact that travellers always return beariall $tories, and until his
death he investigated all the stories of exterrmonatiterature and
attempted to trace their authors. He made shork wbthe extravagant
claims about gas chambers at Buchenwald in Davigs&ei's The Other
Kingdom (New York, 1947); himself an inmate of Bedwald, Rassinier
proved that no such things ever existed there (lemsgdnge d'Ulysse, p.
209 ff) Rassinier also traced Abbe Jean-Paul Remad asked him how
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he could possibly have testified in his book ChaigeLumieres that gas
chambers were in operation at Buchenwald. Rengstiecethat others
had told him of their existence, and hence he e lwilling to pose as
a witness of things that he had never seen (ibi@pp ff). Rassinier also
investigated Denise Dufournier's Ravensbriick.- Wmamen's Camp of
Death (London, 1948) and again found that the aadsohad no other
evidence for gas chambers there than the vague olmg’h which
Charlotte Bormann stated were deliberately spregd communist
political prisoners. Similar investigations were daaof such books as
Philip Friedman's This was Auschwitz: The StoryaoMurder Camp
(N.Y., 1946) and Eugen Kogon's The Theory and kReadf Hell (N.Y.,
1950), and he found that none of these authorsigmolduce an authentic
eye-witness of a gas chamber at Auschwitz, nor thag themselves
actually seen one. Rassinier mentions Kogon's clluat a deceased
former inmate, Janda Weiss, had said to Kogon alba¢ she had
witnessed gas chambers at Auschwitz, but of cowisee this person
was apparently dead, Rassinier was unable to igadstthe claim. He
was able to interview Benedikt Kautsky, author otufel und
Verdammte who had alleged that millions of Jewsenexterminated at
Auschwitz. However, Kautsky only confirmed to Rassi the confession
in his book, namely that never at any time haddssm s gas chamber, and
that he based his information on what others hald tim". The palm for
extermination literature is awarded by Rassinidvliklos Nyizli's Doctor
at Auschwitz, in which the falsification of factsthe evident
contradictions and shameless lies show that theoaus speaking of
places which it is obvious he has never seen (Lan@r des Juifs
européen, p. 52). According to this "doctor of Ausitz", 25,000 victims
were exterminated every day for four and a halfrgeavhich is a
grandiose advance on Olga Lengyel's 24,000 a daywo and a half
years. It would mean a total of forty-one milliorctums at Auschwitz by
1945, two and a half times the total pre-war Jevwashulation of the
world. When Rassinier attempted to discover thatitleof this strange
"witness", he was told that "he had died some t@kre the publication
of the book." Rassinier is convinced that he wagenanything but a
mythical figure. Since the war, Rassinier has,aat,ftoured Europe in
search of somebody who was an actual eye-witnesgasfchamber
exterminations in German concentration camps dwifagld War Two,
but he has never found even one such person. ideveised that not one
of the authors of the many books charging that Germans had
exterminated millions of Jews had even seen algasloer built for such
purposes, much less seen one in operation, nod emyl of these authors
produce a living authentic witness who had donelrsaariably, former
prisoners such as Renard, Kautsky and Kogon basadstatements not
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upon what they had actually seen, but upon what theard", always
from "reliable" sources, who by some chance are@siralways dead and
thus not in a position to confirm or deny theirtstaents. Certainly the
most important fact to emerge from Rassinier's isgjdand of which
there is now no doubt at all, is the utter impastaf "gas chambers".
Serious investigations carried out in the sitesngmves have revealed
with irrefutable proof that, contrary to the deekwns of the surviving
"witnesses" examined above, no gas chambers whatavsged in the
German camps at Buchenwald, Bergen-Belsen, Ravaistidachau and
Dora, or Mauthausen in Austria. This fact, which maed earlier was
attested to by Stephen Pinter of the U.S. War ©ffitas now been
recognised and admitted officially by the Institubdé Contemporary
History at Munich. However, Rassinier points ouattin spite of this,
"witnesses" again declared at the Eichmann triak tihey had seen
prisoners at Bergen-Belsen setting out for theohasnbers. So far as the
eastern camps of Poland are concerned, Rassimerssthat the sole
evidence attesting to the existence of gas chambérgreblinka,
Chelmno, Belzec, Majdanek and Sobibor are the eliied memoranda
of Kurt Gerstein referred to above. His originaini, it will be recalled
was that an absurd 40 million people had been mxteted during the
war, while in his first signed memorandum he reduttee number to 25
million. Further reductions were made in his secomnorandum. These
documents were considered of such dubious autlitgntiat they were
not even admitted by the Nuremberg Court, thoughy tbontinue to
circulate in three different versions, one in Gamm@listributed in
schools) and two in French, none of which agreé wach other. The
German version featured as "evidence" at the EidnmEial in 1961.
Finally, Professor Rassinier draws attention tangmortant admission by
Dr. Kubovy, director of the World Centre of Conterngry Jewish
Documentation at Tel-Aviv, made in La Terre Retr@ey December
15th, 1960. Dr. Kubovy recognised that not a singleer for
extermination exists from Hitler, Himmler, Heydriobr Goring (Le
Drame des Juifs européen, p. 31, 39).

'SIX MILLION' FALSEHOOD REJECTED

As for the fearful propaganda figure of the Six IMih, Professor
Rassinier rejects it on the basis of an extremedyaited statistical
analysis. He shows that the number has been fatsthblished, on the
one hand through inflation of the pre-war Jewispyation by ignoring
all emigration and evacuation, and on the otherabgorresponding
deflation of the number of survivors after 1945.sTtwvas the method
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used by the World Jewish Congress. Rassinier aigats any written or
oral testimony to the Six Million given by the kired "witnesses" cited
above, since they are full of contradictions, exaggons and falsehoods.
He gives the example of Dachau casualties, notiag in 1946, Pastor
Niemdller reiterated Auerbach's fraudulent "238,;008aths there, while
in 1962 Bishop Neuh&usseler of Munich stated ipesesh at Dachau that
only 30,000 people died "of the 200,000 personsftioirty-eight nations
who were interned there" (Le Drame des Juifs ewopp . 12). Today,
the estimate has been reduced by several moreathdsisand so it goes
on. Rassinier concludes, too, that testimony irpsupof the Six Million
given by accused men such as Hdss, Hoettl, Wigliesd Hoellriegel,
who were faced with the prospect of being condentoedeath or with
the hope of obtaining a reprieve, and who wereukeat]y tortured during
their detention, is completely untrustworthy. Ragsi finds it very
significant that the figure of Six Million was nehentioned in court
during the Eichmann trial. "The prosecution at feeusalem trial was
considerably weakened by its central motif, the miXion European
Jews alleged to have been exterminated in gas &ramb was an
argument that easily won conviction the day after war ended, amidst
the general state of spiritual and material ch@osglay, many documents
have been published which were not available at tthee of the
Nuremberg trials, and which tend to prove thath# tJewish nationals
were wronged and persecuted by the Hitler regirheret could not
possibly have been six millions victims" (ibid, 125). With the help of
one hundred pages of cross-checked statistics,esdmf Rassinier
concludes in Le Drame des Juifs européen that timbar of Jewish
casualties during the Second World War could notehaxceeded
1,200,000, and he notes that this has finally [ze®epted as valid by the
World Centre of Contemporary Jewish Documentatidpaais. However,
he regards such a figure as a maximum limit, arferseto the lower
estimate of 896,892 casualties in a study of thmesaroblem by the
Jewish statistician Raul Hilberg. Rassinier poiotg that the State of
Israel nevertheless continues to claim compensé&biosix million dead,
each one representing an indemnity of 5,000 marks.

EMIGRATION: THE FINAL SOLUTION

Prof. Rassinier is emphatic in stating that then@er Government never
had any policy other than the emigration of Jewsrs®as. He shows that
after the promulgation of the Nuremberg Race LawSeptember 1935,
the Germans negotiated with the British for thedfar of German Jews
to Palestine on the basis of the Balfour Declanatd/hen this failed,
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they asked other countries to take charge of thernthese refused (ibid,
p. 20). The Palestine project was revived in 1988 broke down
because Germany could not negotiate their depadaor¢he basis of
3,000,000 marks, as demanded by Britain, withoutesagreement for
compensation. Despite these difficulties, Germaidyndanage to secure
the emigration of the majority of their Jews, mpst the United States.
Rassinier also refers to the French refusal of @ag's Madagascar plan
at the end of 1940. "In a report of the 21st Augli842, the Secretary of
State for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the ifth Reich, Luther,
decided that it would be possible to negotiate \Witlince in this direction
and described conversations which had taken plateeen July and
December 1940, and which were brought to a hdtiiehg the interview
with Montoire on 13th December 1940 by Pierre-Eieflandin, Laval's
successor. During the whole of 1941 the Germangsddpat they would
be able to re-open these negotiations and bringn the a happy
conclusion” (ibid, p . 108). After the outbreakwér, the Jews, who, as
Rassinier reminds us, had declared economic arahdial war on
Germany as early as 1933, were interned in coratgircamps, “which
Is the way countries all over the world treat eneahgns in time of war
... It was decided to regroup them and put thervddk in one immense
ghetto which, after the successful invasion of Ryssas situated toward
the end of 1941 in the so-called Eastern terrigonear the former frontier
between Russia and Poland: at Auschwitz, Chelmetze8, Majdanek,
Treblinka etc ... There they were to wait until #ned of the war for the
re-opening of international discussions which woddgtide their future”
(Le Véritable Proces Eichmann, p. 20). The ordetHis concentration in
the eastern ghetto was given by Goring to Heydashoted earlier, and
it was regarded as a prelude to "the desired fsa@ution,” their
emigration overseas after the war had ended.

ENORMOUS FRAUD

Of great concern to Professor Rassinier is the waywhich the
extermination legend is deliberately exploited patitical and financial
advantage, and in this he finds Israel and the édynion to be in
concert. He notes how, after 1950, an avalanche fabfricated
extermination literature appeared under the stafpvo organisations,
so remarkably synchronised in their activities thia¢ might well believe
them to have been contrived in partnership. OnetivasCommittee for
the Investigation of War Crimes and Criminals" bbkthed under
Communist auspices at Warsaw, and the other, therltMCentre of
Contemporary Jewish Documentation" at Paris andAVel. Their
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publications seem to appear at favourable momemtsheé political
climate, and for the Soviet Union their purposeimply to maintain the
threat of Nazism as a manoeuvre to divert attenfrom their own
activities. As for Israel, Rassinier sees the mypththe Six Million as
inspired by a purely material problem. In Le Drades Juifs européen
(P. 31, 39). he writes: " ... It is simply a questiof justifying by a
proportionate number of corpses the enormous selsichich Germany
has been paying annually since the end of the ovtret State of Israel by
way of reparation for injuries which moreover sla@mot be held to have
caused her either morally or legally, since theas wo State of Israel at
the time the alleged deeds took place; thus itgaraly and contemptibly
material problem. "Perhaps | may be allowed toltdeae that the State
of Israel was only founded in May 1948 and thatlbes were nationals
of all states with the exception of Israel, in arde underline the
dimensions of a fraud which defies description my &anguage; on the
one hand Germany pays to Israel sums which areauletdc on six
million dead, and on the other, since at least-fiftlrs of these six
million were decidedly alive at the end of the wahe is paying
substantial sums by way of reparation to the vistohHitler's Germany
to those who are still alive in countries all otlee world other than Israel
and to the rightful claimants of those who havecsinleceased, which
means that for the former (i.e. the six million),im other words, for the
vast majority, she is paying twice."

CONCLUSION

Here we may briefly summarise the data on Jewish tiae casualties.
Contrary to the figure of over 9 million Jews in r@@an- occupied
territory put forward at the Nuremberg and Eichméamals, it has already
been estabhshed that after extensive emigratigrpsipnately 3 million

were living in Europe, excluding the Soviet Uni&ven when the Jews
of German-occupied Russia are included (the mgjafitRussian Jews
were evacuated beyond German control), the overathber probably
does not exceed four million. Himmler's statistigi®r. Richard Korherr
and the World Centre of Contemporary Jewish Docuatem put the

number respectively at 5,550,000 and 5,294,000 v@eiman- occupied
territory was at its widest, but both these figuredude the two million

Jews of the Baltic and western Russia without gaginy attention to the
large number of these who were evacuated. Howeétvés,at least an
admission from the latter organisation that theegemnot even six million
Jews in Europe and western Russia combined. Nothetigr illustrates
the declining plausibility of the Six Million legdnthan the fact that the
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prosecution at the Eichmann trial deliberately dedi mentioning the
figure. Moreover, official Jewish estimates of tbasualties are being
quietly revised downwards. Our analysis of the pafon and emigration
statistics, as well as the studies by the SwisslBadNachrichten and
Professor Rassinier, demonstrate that it would haeen simply
impossible for the number of Jewish casualtiesawehexceeded a limit
of one and a half million. It is very significartherefore, that the World
Centre of Contemporary Jewish Documentation insPaow states that
only 1,485,292 Jews died from all causes duringSeond World War,
and although this figure is certainly too high, laist it bears no
resemblance at all to the legendary Six Million.l#s been noted earlier,
the Jewish statistician Raul Hilberg estimates aenelower figure of
896,892. This is beginning to approach a realfgfiere, and the process
of revision is certain to continue. Doubtless, saveéhousand Jewish
persons did die in the course of the Second Wordd, \But this must be
seen in the context of a war that cost many milioh innocent victims
on all sides. To put the matter in perspective elaample, we may point
out that 700,000 Russian civilians died duringgisge of Leningrad, and
a total of 2,050,000 German civilians were killedAlllied air raids and
forced repatriation after the war. In 1955, anotheuntral Swiss source,
Die Tat of Zurich (January 19th, 1955), in a sureéll Second World
War casualties based on figures of the Internakti®em Cross, put the
"Loss of victims of persecution because of poljtiege or religion who
died in prisons and concentration camps betweer® H®1 1945" at
300,000, not all of whom were Jews, and this figeseems the most
accurate assessment.

IMAGINARY SLAUGHTER

The question most pertinent to the exterminatiayeia is, of course:
how many of the 3 million European Jews under Garncantrol
survived after 1945? The Jewish Joint Distribut@mmmittee estimated
the number of survivors in Europe to be only oné arhalf million, but
such a figure is now totally unacceptable. Thiprsved by the growing
number of Jews claiming compensation from the WeE&rman
Government for having allegedly suffered betweeB91@nd 1945. By
1965, the number of these claimants registered thighWest German
Government had tripled in ten years and reachetb3)80 (Aufbau, June
30th, 1965). Nothing could be a more devastatimpfpof the brazen
fantasy of the Six Million. Most of these claimaai® Jews, so there can
be no doubt that the majority of the 3 million Jemiso experienced the
Nazi occupation of Europe are, in fact, very mulobealt is a resounding
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confirmation of the fact that Jewish casualtiesirduthe Second World
War can only be estimated at a figure in thousa8dsely this is enough
grief for the Jewish people? Who has the rightamgound it with vast
imaginary slaughter, marking with eternal shameeaigEuropean nation,
as well as wringing fraudulent monetary compensatimm them?
RICHARD HARWOOD is a writer and specialist in padal and
diplomatic aspects of the Second World War. At néde is with the
University of London. Mr. Harwood turned to the eexsubject of war
crimes under the influence of Professor Paul Ressiito whose
monumental work this little volume is greatly indet. The author is
now working on a sequel in this series on the Mduremberg Trial,
1945 -1946.

COMMENTS ABOUT DID SIX MILLION REALLY DIE ?

Dr. Kuang Fann, Professor of Philosophy at Yorkvdmsity of Canada,
formerly China: "The whole pamphlet ... obvioushosld be classified
as a political opinion . . ."

Ditlieb Felderer, Historical Researcher, Writer, ésl@n: ... the booklet
has proven to be more true as the years have ggneard it is

exterminationists who are coming now to start arguike Harwood did

when the booklet was first published, so the exteatonists are moving
... toward the booklet more and more."

Dr. Robert Faurisson, Expert of Ancient Texts anociments, Lyon
University: "The thesis of the book is that it'st iue that six million
Jews died, and it is not true that there was a@rexhation plan, and it is
not true that there were gas chambers. What Irgid is, first, the title.
The title is good. Did Six Million Really Die?" THa really the problem
... This man, Richard Harwood, brought plenty dbrimation for the
layman in '74. He said in '74 that there were rmier(s) from Hitler to
exterminate the Jews. Three years after, when Oaxitg said it, it was
an uproar, so it was really new and true. We kniomow in 1988 ... this
... was so important that when it was publishe&nance, the man who
distributed (it was) murdered ... Francoise Dupvdée don't know who
exactly did that, but the interesting point issfijrthat it has been done by
people very clever in those kind of bomb handliagd what was
published in the journal Le Monde after was inteéngs This murder was
revindicated by a so-called "Memory of Auschwitzjanization. It was
justified by a man called Patrick Chairoff - sayihgit Francoise Duprat,
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in distributing this kind of pamphlet, had takerresponsibility which
kills."

David Irving,British Historian, author of over 3@dks on WW Il and its

aftermath: "... | read it with great interest ananust say that | was
surprised by the quality of the arguments thatepresented. It has
obvious flaws. It uses sources that | personallyld/mot use. In fact, the
entire body of sources is different. This is baseatirely on secondary
literature, books by other people, including sompeets, whereas | use
no books. | use just the archives. But indepengettte author of this

came to conclusions and asked questions of a logatare which | had

arrived at by an entirely different route, so teag.. And if | was to ask
what is the value of a brochure like this, | thihks that it provokes

people to ask questions, rather as my book onrditi&ar provoked the
historians... This is the kind of value which | falthis brochure to have.
It was asking proper questions on the basis ofrdinedy different set of

sources."

Mark Weber, American Historian, Author: "I belietreat the thesis of the
booklet is accurate... that there was no Germarcypar program to
exterminate the Jews during the Second World W&he booklet is a
journalistic or a polemic account that is desigtedonvince people, and
it does not purport to be a work that can be heldouthe same standards
of rigid scrutiny that a scholarly work and a die@diwork by someone
who is a historian normally would be. . its mairuealies in encouraging
further discussion and thought and debate on theslt raises."

Colin Wilson, well known British author: ". . . keceived in the post a
pamphlet... entitled Did Six Million Really Die?nhust admit that it has
left me thoroughly bewildered. What Harwood saygfly, is that Hitler
had no reason to murder Jews when he needed theorded labor... it
Is worth asking the question: Did the Nazis reakyerminate six million
Jews? Or is this another sign of the emotionalohisdl distortion that
makes nearly all the books on Hitler so far almwstthless?. . . Is there,
then, any reason why we should be afraid to digrdantil we get at the
truth?"
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WHAT'S WRONG WITH DID SIX MILLION REALLY DIE ?

After 10 years of wrangling, what follows is thesesce of what was
found wrong with the pamphlet by the prosecutiotnesses. In italics
are the primary parts of the pamphlet disputed lhg prosecution
followed by evidence given by expert witnesses othlsides. 1. By
1939, the great majority of German Jews had enadratll of them with
a sizeable proportion of their assets. Never at tang had the Nazi
leadership even contemplated a policy of genoaxieatds them... Had
Hitler cherished any intention of exterminating thkews, it is
inconceivable that he would have allowed more tB&86,000 to leave
Reich territory with the bulk of their wealth .p.(5,6)

Prosecution historian Christopher Browning's opinigas that slightly
over half of German Jews emigrated by 1939. Brog/mastified that the
figure 800,000 was an exaggeration; by 1941, the td Jews who had
left Germany, Austria and the Protectorates was,(BBD Because of
measures taken against them, it was false to sgyl¢ift with a "sizeable
proportion" of their assets. Browning admitted undess-examination,
however, that he was not a demographer nor atgtaisand that any
population statistics concerning Jews could onlyebBmates. He also
admitted that he could not give a precise percentagven proportion of
their assets Jews left with. He only knew that asrable efforts were
made to prevent property getting out.

2. The founder of political Zionism in the 19th teny, Theodore Herzl,

in his work The Jewish State, had originally cowediof Madagascar as
a national homeland for the Jews, and this posgyibivas seriously

studied by the Nazis. It had been a main plankhefNational Socialist

party platform before 1933 and was published byphgy in pamphlet

form. (p.5)

Browning testified it was not a plank of the Naarfy platform before
1933 that the Jews go to Madagascar as a natieamatland. The first
time a Nazi leader mentioned Madagascar was 1938 fifst time there
was a plan for madagascar was 1940.

3. The fall of France in 1940 enabled the Germame@Gunent to open
serious negotiations with the French for the transf European Jews to
Madagascar. A memorandum of August, 1942 from LytBecretary-of-
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State in the German Foreign Office, reveals thahdwd conducted these
negotiations between July and December 1940, whesy twere
terminated by the French. (p.7)

Browning testified that there were no such negiotnst with the French.
The Madagascar Plan failed because of continuimgsBrcontrol of the
high seas.

4. Reitlinger and Poliakov both make the entiralyounded supposition
that because the Madagascar Plan had been sh#teeermans must
necessarily have been thinking of "exterminaticd@hly a month later,
however, on March 7th, 1942, Goebbels wrote a mantum in favour
of the Madagascar Plan as a "final solution" of flevish question
(Manvell and Frankl, Dr. Goebbels, London, 1960, 165). In the
meantime he approved of the Jews being "concedtnatdne East". Later
Goebbels memoranda also stress deportation to tmt f.e. the
Government-General of Poland) and lay emphasis hen rteed for
compulsory labor there; once the policy of evaamtio the East had
been inaugurated, the use of Jewish labor becafuedamental part of
the operation. (p.7)

Browning said that Goebbels did not write a "memdrtan”, he wrote a
"diary entry." Goebbels did not lay emphasis onrtked for compulsory
labor but said exactly the opposite; for example March 27, 1942, he
wrote that 60% of the Jews will have to be liquethtind 40% used for
forced labor. Browning admitted he had never chédke authenticity of
the original Goebbels diaries but had acceptedctimamercial printed
version. Historian Weber testified there was grdatibt about the
authenticity of the entire Goebbels diaries becdlieg were typewritten.
There was therefore no way to verify their authetyti The U.S.
Government itself indicated that it would take msponsibility for the
accuracy of the diaries: the original clothboundied contained a U.S.
Government statement that it "neither warrants daclaims the
authenticity of the manuscript". Browning relied aiher documents such
as the Seraphim report to show that the Germansatighut priority on
using Jews for labor. Historian Weber disagreedh wits opinion. In his
view, the Jews were a valuable source of labottferGermans; Himmler
himself ordered that concentration camp inmatesids®l as extensively
as possible in war production.
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5. Statistics relating to Jewish populations areaewerywhere known in
precise detail, approximations for various coustddfering widely, and
it is also unknown exactly how many Jews were degoand interned at
any one time between the years 1939-1945. In gerfevevever, what
reliable statistics there are, especially thosatirej to emigration, are
sufficient to show that not a fraction of six noli Jews could have been
exterminated. (p.7)

Browning testified that contemporary German stattstudies showed
that there were enough Jews in Europe to extermidanillion of them.
These studies were: (a) the Burgdorfer Study (edédhthat there were
about 10.72 million Jews in Europe); (b) Madagadekmn (4 million
Jews under German control in 1940); (c) Wannsedeoamce protocol
(11 million Jews). In Browning's opinion, even tBerman studies done
at the time showed in the area of 10 million Jewdenm German control
in Europe. Therefore, 6 million could have beenesxinated. He
admitted, again, that he was not a demographerstatestician and that
the problem of changing borders and the variousnidiens of "Jew"
made any conclusions in this area difficult to geent that they could
only be estimates.

6. According to Chambers Encyclopaedia the totahlmer of Jews living
in pre-war Europe was 6,500,000. (p.7)

Chambers Encyclopedia dealt only with the total benof Jews living
ont he continent of Europe apart from Russia, hettbtal number living
In pre-war Europe as stated by the pamphlet.

7. In addition to the German Jews, 220,000 of dtital 280,000 Austrian
Jews had emigrated by September, 1939, while froarcM 1939
onwards the Institute for Jewish Emigration in Readiad secured the
emigration of 260,000 Jews from former Czechoslaakn all, only
360,000 Jews remained in Germany, Austria and Cmbovakia after
September 1939. (p.7,8)

These numbers did not accord with the German sutbae at the time,
Browning testified. A comparison with the Wannsemférence protocol
statistics showed that 360,000 Jews had emigratech fGermany;
147,000 had emigrated from Austria; 30,000 had eategl from the
Protectorate. These figures were all much lowen tharwood's figures.
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8. In addition to these emigrants, we must alsdude the number of
Jews who fled to the Soviet Union after 1939, andowvere later
evacuated beyond reach of the German invadersll lbevshown below
that the majority of these, about 1,250,000, weigrants from Poland.
But apart from Poland, Reitlinger admits that 300,®ther European
Jews slipped into Soviet territory between 1939 B9dll. This brings the
total of Jewish emigrants to the Soviet Union towll,550,000. (p.8)

Browning testified that the reference to Reitlingeas a mis-cite;
Reitlinger said that 300,000 Polish Jews in tdtd to the Soviet Union,
not "other European Jews" as stated by Harwood figbee of 1,250,000
given by Harwood was therefore 5 times too high.

9. The 1931 Jewish population census for Polandhuhumber of Jews
at 2,732,600 (Reitlinger, Die Endlésung, p. 36)8)p

Hilberg testified that this was wrong; in fact, thgure of 2,732,600
came from a census taken in the 1920s.

10. When the Jewish populations of Holland (140)00Belgium
(40,000), Italy (50,000), Yugoslavia (55,000), Hang (380,000) and
Roumania (725,000) are included, the figure doasnmach exceed 3
million. (p.8)

These statistics were not in accord with the Naam statistics, said
Browning. For example, the German statistics fot2lfisted the Jewish
population of Hungary at 743,800. German recordshefdeportations
from Hungary showed more Jews were deported theamdmber given
by Harwood as the Jewish population of Hungary.

11. So far as is known, the first accusation agdims Germans of the
mass murder of Jews in war-time Europe was madthdyPolish Jew
Rafael Lemkin in his book Axis Rule in Occupied &pe, published in
New York in 1943. (p.9)

The first accusation of mass murder of the Jewsmade on December
17, 1942 by the Allies in a Joint Declaration. Lemlas far as Browning
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knew, never used the 6 million figure in his bodkeber pointed out this
mistake made no difference to the substance ahemes of the pamphlet.

12. Gerstein's sister was congenitally insane aed 8y euthenasia,
which may well suggest a streak of mental instgbiin Gerstein

himself... Gerstein's fantastic exaggerations haee little but discredit
the whole notion of mass extermination. Indeed, ngesical Bishop
Wilhelm Dibelius of Berlin denounced his memorandas

"Untrustworthy" (p.9)

It was not Gerstein's sister, but his sister-in;lawo was killed in the

euthenasia program. Dibelius in fact stated thatvhe convinced of the
trustworthiness of Gerstein, the opposite of whatwbod had written.

However, Hilberg admitted that he would not chagage Gerstein as
being totally rational and that there was no qoesthat he was capable
of adding imagination to fact. Browning acknowledgéhere were

"problems” with Gerstein's testimony; his obviousggerations resulted
because he was "traumatized" by his experiencesBsawning.

13. It should be emphasised straight away thatethernot a single
document in existence which proves that the Gernatemnded to, or
carried out, the deliberate murder of Jews. (p.10)

In Browning's opinion, there were such documentisluding the Hans
Frank diary, the Wannsee Conference protocol, dred 11943 Posen
speech of Himmler. Historian Robert Faurisson mminbut that if these
documents "proved" the existence of a deliberaia @ murder the Jews,
there would be no debate between the "functiosélisand
"Intentionalists” in the Holocaust academic circl€bis debate in and of
itself showed that no proof of a deliberate plamstexl. Hilberg had
testified in the 1985 Zindel trial that there wéne® oral orders from
Hitler for the extermination of the Jews. He deniledt he had changed
this view in his then forthcoming second edition lwE book The
Destruction of the European Jews, which was to lidighed shortly
thereafter. In 1988, Hilberg refused to testifytts# second Zindel trial,
citing in a confidential letter to the prosecutoatthe had "grave doubts"
about testifying again; 'the defence,' he wrotewould ... make every
attempt to entrap me by pointing to any seemingradiction, however
trivial the subject might be, between my earliestitaony and an answer
that | might give in 1988." Browning admitted inshiestimony that
Hilberg had made a "significant" change regardimg tole of Hitler in
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the decision-making process between his first @ditand the second
edition, published in 1985. In an article entitt&ithe Revised Hilberg",
Browning wrote that in his second edition, Hilbdrgd "systematically
excised" all references in the text to a Hitlerisien or a Hitler order for
the "Final Solution". In the new edition, wrote Bnaing, "decisions were
not made and orders were not given".

14. Attempts to find "veiled allusions" to genocitlespeeches like that
of Himmler's to his S.S. Obergruppenfiihrers at Rose 1943 are
likewise quite hopeless. (p.11)

Browning testified that the Posen speech contaexguicit references to

exterminating the Jews. Historian David Irving ifiesti, however, that

those portions of the original manuscript of thesétospeech which dealt
with "extermination" had been tampered with; thegrevwritten in a

different typescript using different carbon papad avere numbered in
pencil. Irving also pointed out that the IsraelsdhHimmler's private

diary but refused to allow any historians to haweess to it. If Himmler's

diary supported the "Holocaust", Irving said, tlseaklis would be the
first to release it.

15. Most incredible of all, perhaps, was the faett tdefence lawyers at
Nuremberg were not permitted to cross-examine prasmm witnesses.

(p.12)

Hilberg testified that defense lawyers were allowedcross-examine
witnesses at Nuremberg. Weber testified that maffiglaaits were
entered into evidence, however, upon which no eeassnination was
possible.

16. The Soviet charge that the Action Groups hadtevdy exterminated
a million Jews during their operations has beemshsubsequently to be
a massive falsification. In fact, there had neveerb the slightest
statistical basis for the figure. (p.14)

Browning testified that on the basis of the Eingeippen reports and the
works of other historians that at least 1 milliew3d were killed by the
Einsatztruppen. Historian Weber testified, howeubst in the major
work on the Einsatztruppen, Die Truppe des Weltaasengskrieges, the
two authors calculated that if all the figures hie EEinsatztruppen reports
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were added up, there would be a total of 2.2 mmlll@wish dead. The
authors admitted this was impossible and concedbdt tthe
Einsatztruppen report figures were exaggeratedVéter's opinion, the
figure of about 1 million was not believable beautswas known that
the great majority of Jews fled or were evacuatemnfthe eastern
territories before the German invasion in 1941.

17. Thus between July and October 1942, over thuesters of the
Warsaw Ghetto's inhabitants were peacefully evacuand transported,
supervised by the Jewish police themselves... &,tbhbwever, of 56,065
inhabitants were captured and peacefully reseitiethe area of the
Government-General. (p. 19)

Browning stated that reports of the Warsaw Ghelartng indicated it
was done brutally and not "peacefully" as alleged Harwood. In
Browning's opinion, they were not resettled butetako Treblinka and
Majdanek and either gassed or shot. Historian MWsdber testified that
the record as to what happened to these Jews Wamskear. In Weber's
opinion, Treblinka and Majdanek were simply concaimn and/or
transit camps.

18. Of course, no Jew would ever be found who @dino have been a
member of this gruesome "special detachment", gotlle whole issue is
left conveniently unprovable. It is worth repeatirtigat no living,
authentic eye-witness to these events has everdgredaced. (p.20)

One of Browning's main differences with the pamphlas that it denied
the existence of the homcidal gas chambers forptivpose of killing
Jews. He testified Jews had come forward claiminget members of the
Sonderkommando, such as Filip Mueller, whose adsooa found to be
"moving". Browning admitted under cross-examinatibawever, that he
had never seen a technical plan that purporte@ teither a gas chamber
or gas van. He had never enquired about crematiocepses or how
much heat or how long it took to cremate a humastyb8&rowning had
not looked at the aereal photographs taken by thesAof Auschwitz
during the war except for one on the wall of Yadsham. Neither
Browning nor Hilberg knew of any autopsy reportwhng that any camp
inmate was Kkilled by Zyklon B. Hilberg and Browningsited the
concentration camps only for the purpose of lookahgnemorials or as
members of Holocaust Commissions. Witnesses Leuealig Roth gave
evidence which showed that samples taken from #iks\and floor of the
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alleged "gas chambers" at Auschwitz and Birkenaowsld either no
traces or only minute traces of cyanide, while tls of a known
fumigation chamber at Birkenau which had used Zykohad over 1000
times as much traceable cyanide. In Leuchter'siapiras an expert in
gas chamber technology, the alleged homicidal ghambers at
Auschwitz, Birkenau and Majdanek were incapablbéahg used as gas
chambers for the killing of human beings becauseheir structure,
including such factors as lack of exhaust systestagking and sealants.
Ivan Lagace, a cremation expert, testified thamimdern crematories it
took a minimum of 1 1/2 hours to cremate a humatybo one retort; he
termed "ludicrous" the extermination claim that 104400 bodies were
cremated in 46 retorts at Birkenau per day. Witpeet to the veracity of
"eyewitness" testimony, Weber testified that YacsMam had admitted
that over half of the "survivor" accounts on rectrdre were unreliable
as many had "let their imagination run away witlenth" Historian
Faurisson quoted from the Jewish writer Michel d@ei&d, who admitted
in 1986 that "the record is rotten to the core"hwabstinately repeated
"fantasies' and inaccuracies.

19. Of course, no Jew would ever be found who &@dino have been a
member of this gruesome "special detachment", gotkle whole issue is
left conveniently unprovable. It is worth repeatirtigat no living,
authentic eye-witness to these events has everdredaced. (p.20)

Browning believed Eichmann to be the highest céfigare in the plan
to exterminate the Jews who survived the war astifiegl. Eichmann
testified that Heydrich told him that Hitler haddered the extermination
of the Jews of Europe. Browning admitted, howetleat Eichmann had
"more than a little trouble" in sorting out evemishis mind. In historian
Irving's opinion Eichmann was on trial and undensiderable physical
and mental coercion; such testimony did not advanhesorical
knowledge but polluted it.

20... only seven years after its initial publicati@ New York Supreme
Court case established that the book was a hodkestablished that the
Jewish novelist Meyer Levin had written the dialegaf the "diary" and

was demanding payment for his work in a court actagainst Otto

Frank. (p.21)

This was not true; in fact Levin had sued for pagtrfer writing a play
based on the diary itself. Faurisson and Irvingdifted that other proof
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existed, however, that the diary's authenticity waspect. Expert
examinations of the original diary by graphologiatsd West German
criminal laboratories showed that one person hattenrthe diary and
part of it was written in ball-point pen ink, whi@nly came into use in
the 1950s. Faurisson believed the diary was writtgrOtto Frank, the
father of Anne Frank.

21. As a result, eastern camps in the Russian @aboecupation such as
Auschwitz and Treblinka gradually came to the fasehorrific centres of
extermination (though no one was permitted to demmj, and this
tendency has lasted to the present day. (p.23)

Browning testified that it was false to say no @vas permitted to see the
camps in the Soviet zone. He cited a New York Tinaecle by
journalist W. Lawrence of a tour of Majdanek givenjournalists by the
Soviets in 1944. Browning admitted that the artitdel significant errors
regarding the numbers of people who allegedly dieete and how
Zyklon B worked. Historian Weber testified that W&a Allied
investigators were not allowed to investigate cotregion camps in the
Soviet zone of occupation after the war. The visitMajdanek by
newspaper reporters was a guided tour by the So¥ietpropaganda
purposes; it was not an investigation by any sfieecperson.

22. Finally, Professor Rassinier draws attentioartemportant admission
by Dr. Kubovy, director of the World Centre of Centporary Jewish
Documentation at Tel-Aviv, made in La Terre Retm@ey December
15th, 1960. Dr. Kubovy recognised that not a singieer for

extermination exists from Hitler, Himmler, Heydriobr Goring (Le

Drame des Juifs européen, p. 31, 39).(p.29)

Browning had never heard of Kubovy or the World t@enof
Contemporary Jewish Documentation. But both Faomisand Irving
knew of Kubovy and Irving had cited Kubovy's qudtem La Terre
Retrouvee in his book, Hitler's War.

23. However, {Rassinier} regards such a figure asaximum limit, and
refers to the lower estimate of 896,892 casuaities study of the same
problem by the Jewish statistician Raul Hilberg29)
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Hilberg testified that he was not a statisticiam drad never given an
estimate of 896,892. His own calculation in factswaver 5 million.
Weber testifled that Harwood had taken this infdrama from Paul
Rassinier's books; the original mistake was theeeRassinier's and not
Harwood's.

24. ... Professor Rassinier concludes ... that nbmber of Jewish
casualties during the Second World War could notehaxceeded
1,200,000, and he notes that this has finally [ze®epted as valid by the
World Centre of Contemporary Jewish Documentatiddaais. (p.29)

Hilberg testified he had never heard of this Centré¢he figure cited by
Harwood.

25. RICHARD HARWOOD is a writer and specialist imlijical and
diplomatic aspects of the Second World War. At gnéshe is with the
University of London. (p.30)

Historian Weber testified that the author of themphlet was a man
named Richard Verrall, who had used the pseudonyRichard

Harwood". Verrall was a graduate of the University_ondon with High

Honours; he was a writer and had a specializedasten political and
diplomatic aspects of the Second World War. Vernalied upon

secondary sources published in the 1950s and 1B86Qgriting the

pamphlet, which was published in 1974. Most errmegle by the author
were errors originally made by Paul Rassinier, pi@neer revisionist
historian, whose works Verrall had relied upon higav
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